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Volume 28, Number 22
May 15, 2020 UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT
Trademarks—Infringement—Res judicata—Defense preclusion—
Because the trademark action at issue challenged different conduct,
and raised different claims, from an earlier action between the parties,
respondent cannot preclude petitioners from raising new defenses,
including a defense that petitioner failed to press fully in the earlier suit

LUCKY BRAND DUNGAREES, INC., et al., Petitioners v. MARCEL FASHIONS
GROUP, INC. U.S. Supreme Court. Case No. 18-1086. Argued January 13, 2020—
Decided May 14, 2020. On Writ of Certiorari to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the
Second Circuit.

Syllabus
Petitioners (collectively Lucky Brand) and respondent (Marcel) both use the word

“Lucky” as part of their marks on jeans and other apparel. Marcel received a
trademark registration for the phrase “Get Lucky,” and Lucky Brand uses the
registered trademark “Lucky Brand” and other marks with the word “Lucky.” This
has led to nearly 20 years of litigation, proceeding in three rounds. The first round
resulted in a 2003 settlement agreement in which Lucky Brand agreed to stop using
the phrase “Get Lucky” and Marcel agreed to release any claims regarding Lucky
Brand’s use of its own trademarks. In the second round (2005 Action), Lucky
Brand sued Marcel and its licensee for violating its trademarks. Marcel filed several
counterclaims turning, as relevant here, on Lucky Brand’s alleged continued use
of “Get Lucky,” but it did not claim that Lucky Brand’s use of its own marks alone
infringed the “Get Lucky” mark. In both a motion to dismiss the counterclaims and
an answer to them, Lucky Brand argued that the counterclaims were barred by the
settlement agreement, but it did not invoke that defense later in the proceedings.
The court in the 2005 Action permanently enjoined Lucky Brand from copying or
imitating Marcel’s “Get Lucky” mark, and a jury found against Lucky Brand on
Marcel’s remaining counterclaims. In the third round (2011 Action), Marcel sued
Lucky Brand for continuing to infringe the “Get Lucky” mark, but it did not reprise
its 2005 allegation about Lucky Brand’s use of the “Get Lucky” phrase. After
protracted litigation, Lucky Brand moved to dismiss, arguing—for the first time
since early in the 2005 Action—that Marcel had released its claims in the
settlement agreement. Marcel countered that Lucky Brand could not invoke the
release defense because it could have pursued that defense in the 2005 Action but
did not. The District Court granted Lucky Brand’s motion to dismiss. The Second
Circuit vacated and remanded, concluding that “defense preclusion” prohibited
Lucky Brand from raising an unlitigated defense that it should have raised earlier.

Held: Because Marcel’s 2011 Action challenged different conduct—and raised
different claims—from the 2005 Action, Marcel cannot preclude Lucky Brand
from raising new defenses. Pp. 6-12.

(a) This case asks whether so-called “defense preclusion” is a valid application
of res judicata: a term comprising the doctrine of issue preclusion, which precludes
a party from relitigating an issue actually decided in a prior action and necessary to
the judgment, and the doctrine of claim preclusion, which prevents parties from
raising issues that could have been raised and decided in a prior action. Any
preclusion of defenses must, at a minimum, satisfy the strictures of issue preclusion
or claim preclusion. See, e.g., Davis v. Brown, 94 U.S. 423, 428. Here, issue
preclusion does not apply, so the causes of action must share a “common nucleus
of operative fact[s]” for claim preclusion to apply, Restatement (Second) of
Judgments §24, Comment b, p. 199. Pp. 6-8.

(b) Because the two suits here involved different marks and different conduct
occurring at different times, they did not share a “common nucleus of operative
facts.” The 2005 claims depended on Lucky Brand’s alleged use of “Get Lucky.”
But in the 2011 Action, Marcel alleged that the infringement was Lucky Brand’s
use of its other marks containing the word “Lucky,” not any use of “Get Lucky”
itself. The conduct in the 2011 Action also occurred after the conclusion of the
2005 Action. But claim preclusion generally “ ‘does not bar claims that are
predicated on events that postdate the filing of the initial complaint,’ ” Whole
Woman’s Health v. Hellerstedt, 579 U.S. ___, ___, because events occurring after
a plaintiff files suit often give rise to new “operative facts” creating a new claim to
relief. Pp. 8-10.

(c) Marcel claims that treatises and this Court’s cases support a version of
“defense preclusion” that extends to the facts of this case. But none of those
authorities describe scenarios applicable here, and they are unlikely to stand for
anything more than that traditional claim or issue preclusion principles may bar
defenses raised in a subsequent suit—principles that do not bar Lucky Brand’s
release defense here. Pp. 10-12.

898 F. 3d 232, reversed and remanded.

SOTOMAYOR, J., delivered the opinion for a unanimous Court.

))))))))))))))))))
JUSTICE SOTOMAYOR delivered the opinion of the Court.
This case arises from protracted litigation between petitioners

Lucky Brand Dungarees, Inc., and others (collectively Lucky Brand)
and respondent Marcel Fashions Group, Inc. (Marcel). In the latest
lawsuit between the two, Lucky Brand asserted a defense against
Marcel that it had not pressed fully in a preceding suit between the
parties. This Court is asked to determine whether Lucky Brand’s
failure to litigate the defense in the earlier suit barred Lucky Brand
from invoking it in the later suit. Because the parties agree that, at a
minimum, the preclusion of such a defense in this context requires that
the two suits share the same claim to relief—and because we find that
the two suits here did not—Lucky Brand was not barred from raising
its defense in the later action.

I
Marcel and Lucky Brand both sell jeans and other apparel. Both

entities also use the word “Lucky” as part of their marks on clothing.
In 1986, Marcel received a federal trademark registration for “Get
Lucky”; a few years later, in 1990, Lucky Brand began selling apparel
using the registered trademark “Lucky Brand” and other marks that
include the word “Lucky.” 779 F. 3d 102, 105 (CA2 2015).

Three categories of marks are at issue in this case: Marcel’s “Get
Lucky” mark; Lucky Brand’s “Lucky Brand” mark; and various other
marks owned by Lucky Brand that contain the word “Lucky.” These
trademarks have led to nearly 20 years of litigation between the two
companies, proceeding in three rounds.

A
In 2001—the first round—Marcel sued Lucky Brand, alleging that

Lucky Brand’s use of the phrase “Get Lucky” in advertisements
infringed Marcel’s trademark. In 2003, the parties signed a settlement
agreement. As part of the deal, Lucky Brand agreed to stop using the
phrase “Get Lucky.” App. 191. In exchange, Marcel agreed to release
any claims regarding Lucky Brand’s use of its own trademarks. Id., at
191-192.

B
The ink was barely dry on the settlement agreement when, in 2005,

the parties began a second round of litigation (2005 Action). Lucky
Brand filed suit, alleging that Marcel and its licensee violated its
trademarks by copying its designs and logos in a new clothing line. As
relevant here, Marcel filed several counterclaims that all turned, in
large part, on Lucky Brand’s alleged continued use of “Get Lucky”:
One batch of allegations asserted that Lucky Brand had continued to
use Marcel’s “Get Lucky” mark in violation of the settlement
agreement, while others alleged that Lucky Brand’s use of the phrase
“Get Lucky” and “Lucky Brand” together was “confusingly similar
to”—and thus infringed—Marcel’s “Get Lucky” mark. Defendants’
Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Counterclaims to Plaintiffs’
Complaint in No. 1:05-cv-06757 (SDNY), Doc. 40-2, p. 39; see id.,
at 34-41. None of Marcel’s counterclaims alleged that Lucky Brand’s
use of its own marks alone—i.e., independent of any alleged use of
“Get Lucky”—infringed Marcel’s “Get Lucky” mark.

Lucky Brand moved to dismiss the counterclaims, alleging that
they were barred by the release provision of the settlement agreement.
After the District Court denied the motion without prejudice, Lucky
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Brand noted the release defense once more in its answer to Marcel’s
counterclaims. But as the 2005 Action proceeded, Lucky Brand never
again invoked the release defense.

The 2005 Action concluded in two phases. First, as a sanction for
misconduct during discovery, the District Court concluded that Lucky
Brand violated the settlement agreement by continuing to use “Get
Lucky” and permanently enjoined Lucky Brand from copying or
imitating Marcel’s “Get Lucky” mark. Order Granting Partial Sum-
mary Judgment and Injunction in No. 1:05-cv-06757, Doc. 183; see
also App. 203-204. The injunction did not enjoin, or even mention,
Lucky Brand’s use of any other marks or phrases containing the word
“Lucky.” Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment and Injunction,
Doc. 183. The case then proceeded to trial. The jury found against
Lucky Brand on Marcel’s remaining counterclaims—those that al-
leged infringement from Lucky Brand’s continued use of the “Get
Lucky” catchphrase alongside its own marks. See Brief for Respon-
dent 52.

C
In April 2011, the third round of litigation began: Marcel filed an

action against Lucky Brand (2011 Action), maintaining that Lucky
Brand continued to infringe Marcel’s “Get Lucky” mark and, in so
doing, contravened the judgment issued in the 2005 Action.

This complaint did not reprise Marcel’s earlier allegation (in the
2005 Action) that Lucky Brand continued to use the “Get Lucky”
phrase. Marcel argued only that Lucky Brand’s continued, post-2010
use of Lucky Brand’s own marks—some of which used the word
“Lucky”—infringed Marcel’s “Get Lucky” mark in a manner that
(according to Marcel) was previously found infringing.1 Marcel
requested that the District Court enjoin Lucky Brand from using any
of Lucky Brand’s marks containing the word “Lucky.”

The District Court granted Lucky Brand summary judgment,
concluding that Marcel’s claims in the 2011 Action were essentially
the same as its counterclaims in the 2005 Action.

But the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit disagreed. 779 F.
3d 102. The court concluded that Marcel’s claims in the 2011 Action
were distinct from those it had asserted in the 2005 Action, because
the claims at issue in the 2005 Action were “for earlier infringements.”
Id., at 110. As the court noted, “[w]inning a judgment . . . does not
deprive the plaintiff of the right to sue” for the defendant’s “subse-
quent similar violations.” Id., at 107.

The Second Circuit further rejected Marcel’s request to hold Lucky
Brand in contempt for violating the injunction issued in the 2005
Action. The court noted that the conduct at issue in the 2011 Action
was Lucky Brand’s use of its own marks—not the use of the phrase
“Get Lucky.” By contrast, the 2005 injunction prohibited Lucky
Brand from using the “Get Lucky” mark—not Lucky Brand’s own
marks that happened to contain the word “Lucky.” Id., at 111.
Moreover, the court reasoned that the jury in the 2005 Action had been
“free to find infringement of Marcel’s ‘Get Lucky’ mark based solely
on Lucky Brand’s use of [the phrase] ‘Get Lucky.’ ” Id., at 112. The
court vacated and remanded for further proceedings.

On remand to the District Court, Lucky Brand moved to dismiss,
arguing—for the first time since its motion to dismiss and answer in
the 2005 Action—that Marcel had released its claims by entering the
settlement agreement. Marcel countered that Lucky Brand was
precluded from invoking the release defense, because it could have
pursued the defense fully in the 2005 Action but had neglected to do
so. The District Court granted Lucky Brand’s motion to dismiss,
holding that it could assert its release defense and that the settlement
agreement indeed barred Marcel’s claims.

The Second Circuit vacated and remanded, concluding that a
doctrine it termed “defense preclusion” prohibited Lucky Brand from
raising the release defense in the 2011 Action. 898 F. 3d 232 (2018).

Noting that a different category of preclusion—issue preclusion—
may be wielded against a defendant, see Parklane Hosiery Co. v.
Shore, 439 U.S. 322 (1979), the court reasoned that the same should
be true of claim preclusion: A defendant should be precluded from
raising an unlitigated defense that it should have raised earlier. The
panel then held that “defense preclusion” bars a party from raising a
defense where: “(i) a previous action involved an adjudication on the
merits”; “(ii) the previous action involved the same parties”; “(iii) the
defense was either asserted or could have been asserted, in the prior
action”; and “(iv) the district court, in its discretion, concludes that
preclusion of the defense is appropriate.” 898 F. 3d, at 241. Finding
each factor satisfied in this case, the panel vacated the District Court’s
judgment. We granted certiorari, 588 U.S. ___ (2019), to resolve
differences among the Circuits regarding when, if ever, claim
preclusion applies to defenses raised in a later suit. Compare 898 F.
3d, at 241, with Hallco Mfg. Co. v. Foster, 256 F. 3d 1290, 1297-1298
(CA Fed. 2001); McKinnon v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Ala-
bama, 935 F. 2d 1187, 1192 (CA11 1991).

II

A
This case asks whether so-called “defense preclusion” is a valid

application of res judicata: a term that now comprises two distinct
doctrines regarding the preclusive effect of prior litigation. 18 C.
Wright, H. Miller, & E. Cooper, Federal Practice and Procedure
§4402 (3d ed. 2016) (Wright & Miller). The first is issue preclusion
(sometimes called collateral estoppel), which precludes a party from
relitigating an issue actually decided in a prior case and necessary to
the judgment. Allen v. McCurry, 449 U.S. 90, 94 (1980); see Parklane
Hosiery, 439 U.S., at 326, n. 5.

The second doctrine is claim preclusion (sometimes itself called res
judicata). Unlike issue preclusion, claim preclusion prevents parties
from raising issues that could have been raised and decided in a prior
action—even if they were not actually litigated. If a later suit advances
the same claim as an earlier suit between the same parties, the earlier
suit’s judgment “prevents litigation of all grounds for, or defenses to,
recovery that were previously available to the parties, regardless of
whether they were asserted or determined in the prior proceeding.”
Brown v. Felsen, 442 U.S. 127, 131 (1979); see also Wright & Miller
§4407. Suits involve the same claim (or “cause of action”) when they
“ ‘aris[e] from the same transaction,’ ” United States v. Tohono
O’odham Nation, 563 U.S. 307, 316 (2011) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S951a] (quoting Kremer v. Chemical Constr. Corp., 456 U.S. 461,
482, n. 22 (1982)), or involve a “common nucleus of operative facts,”
Restatement (Second) of Judgments §24, Comment b, p. 199 (1982)
(Restatement (Second)).

Put another way, claim preclusion “describes the rules formerly
known as ‘merger’ and ‘bar.’ ” Taylor v. Sturgell, 553 U.S. 880, 892,
n. 5 (2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S323a]. “If the plaintiff wins, the
entire claim is merged in the judgment; the plaintiff cannot bring a
second independent action for additional relief, and the defendant
cannot avoid the judgment by offering new defenses.” Wright &
Miller §4406. But “[i]f the second lawsuit involves a new claim or
cause of action, the parties may raise assertions or defenses that were
omitted from the first lawsuit even though they were equally relevant
to the first cause of action.” Ibid.

As the Second Circuit itself seemed to recognize, see 898 F. 3d, at
236-237, this Court has never explicitly recognized “defense preclu-
sion” as a standalone category of res judicata, unmoored from the two
guideposts of issue preclusion and claim preclusion. Instead, our case
law indicates that any such preclusion of defenses must, at a mini-
mum, satisfy the strictures of issue preclusion or claim preclusion.
See, e.g., Davis v. Brown, 94 U.S. 423, 428 (1877) (holding that where



Headnotes and indexes are copyrighted and may not be duplicated by photocopying, printing,
or other means without the express permission of the publishers. 1-800-351-0917

UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT 28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S227

two lawsuits involved different claims, preclusion operates “only
upon the matter actually at issue and determined in the original
action”).2 The parties thus agree that where, as here, issue preclusion
does not apply, a defense can be barred only if the “causes of action
are the same” in the two suits—that is, where they share a “ ‘common
nucleus of operative fact[s].’ ” Brief for Respondent 2, 27, 31, 50;
accord, Reply Brief 3.

B
Put simply, the two suits here were grounded on different conduct,

involving different marks, occurring at different times. They thus did
not share a “common nucleus of operative facts.” Restatement
(Second) §24, Comment b, at 199.

To start, claims to relief may be the same for the purposes of claim
preclusion if, among other things, “ ‘a different judgment in the
second action would impair or destroy rights or interests established
by the judgment entered in the first action.’ ” Wright & Miller §4407.
Here, however, the 2011 Action did not imperil the judgment of the
2005 Action because the lawsuits involved both different conduct and
different trademarks.

In the 2005 Action, Marcel alleged that Lucky Brand infringed
Marcel’s “Get Lucky” mark both by directly imitating its “Get Lucky”
mark and by using the “Get Lucky” slogan alongside Lucky Brand’s
other marks in a way that created consumer confusion. Brief for
Respondent 52. Marcel appears to admit, thus, that its claims in the
2005 Action depended on Lucky Brand’s alleged use of “Get Lucky.”
Id., at 9-10 (“Marcel’s reverse-confusion theory [in the 2005 Action]
depended, in part, on Lucky’s continued imitation of the GET
LUCKY mark”).

By contrast, the 2011 Action did not involve any alleged use of the
“Get Lucky” phrase. Indeed, Lucky Brand had been enjoined in the
2005 Action from using “Get Lucky,” and in the 2011 Action, Lucky
Brand was found not to have violated that injunction. 779 F. 3d, at
111-112. The parties thus do not argue that Lucky Brand continued to
use “Get Lucky” after the 2005 Action concluded, and at oral argu-
ment, counsel for Marcel appeared to confirm that Marcel’s claims in
the 2011 Action did not allege that Lucky Brand continued to use “Get
Lucky.” Tr. of Oral Arg. 46. Instead, Marcel alleged in the 2011
Action that Lucky Brand committed infringement by using Lucky
Brand’s own marks containing the word “Lucky”—not the “Get
Lucky” mark itself. Plainly, then, the 2011 Action challenged
different conduct, involving different marks.

Not only that, but the complained-of conduct in the 2011 Action
occurred after the conclusion of the 2005 Action. Claim preclusion
generally “does not bar claims that are predicated on events that
postdate the filing of the initial complaint.” Whole Woman’s Health
v. Hellerstedt, 579 U.S. ___, ___ (2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S360a] (slip op., at 12) (internal quotation marks omitted); Lawlor v.
National Screen Service Corp., 349 U.S. 322, 327-328 (1955)
(holding that two suits were not “based on the same cause of action,”
because “[t]he conduct presently complained of was all subsequent
to” the prior judgment and it “cannot be given the effect of extinguish-
ing claims which did not even then exist and which could not possibly
have been sued upon in the previous case”). This is for good reason:
Events that occur after the plaintiff files suit often give rise to new
“[m]aterial operative facts” that “in themselves, or taken in conjunc-
tion with the antecedent facts,” create a new claim to relief. Restate-
ment (Second) §24, Comment f, at 203; 18 J. Moore, D. Coquillette,
G. Joseph, G. Vairo, & C. Varner, Federal Practice §131.22[1], p.
131-55, n. 1 (3d ed. 2019) (citing cases where “[n]ew facts create[d a]
new claim”).

This principle takes on particular force in the trademark context,
where the enforceability of a mark and likelihood of confusion
between marks often turns on extrinsic facts that change over time. As

Lucky Brand points out, liability for trademark infringement turns on
marketplace realities that can change dramatically from year to year.
Brief for Petitioners 42-45. It is no surprise, then, that the Second
Circuit held that Marcel’s 2011 Action claims were not barred by the
2005 Action. By the same token, the 2005 Action could not bar Lucky
Brand’s 2011 defenses.

At bottom, the 2011 Action involved different marks, different
legal theories, and different conduct—occurring at different times.
Because the two suits thus lacked a “common nucleus of operative
facts,” claim preclusion did not and could not bar Lucky Brand from
asserting its settlement agreement defense in the 2011 Action.

III
Resisting this conclusion, Marcel points to treatises and this

Court’s cases, arguing that they support a version of “defense
preclusion” doctrine that extends to the facts of this case. Brief for
Respondent 24-26. But these authorities do no such thing. As an initial
matter, regardless of what those authorities might imply about
“defense preclusion,” none of them describe scenarios applicable
here. Moreover, we doubt that these authorities stand for anything
more than that traditional claim- or issue-preclusion principles may
bar defenses raised in a subsequent suit—principles that, as explained
above, do not bar Lucky Brand’s release defense here.

Take, for example, cases that involve either judgment enforcement
or a collateral attack on a prior judgment. Id., at 26-35. In the former
scenario, a party takes action to enforce a prior judgment already
issued against another; in the latter, a party seeks to avoid the effect of
a prior judgment by bringing a suit to undo it. If, in either situation, a
different outcome in the second action “would nullify the initial
judgment or would impair rights established in the initial action,”
preclusion principles would be at play. Restatement (Second) §22(b),
at 185; Wright & Miller §4414. In both scenarios, courts simply apply
claim preclusion or issue preclusion to prohibit a claim or defense that
would attack a previously decided claim.3 But these principles do not
preclude defendants from asserting defenses to new claims, which is
precisely what Marcel would have us do here.

In any event, judgment-enforcement and collateral-attack scenar-
ios are far afield from the circumstances of this case. Lucky Brand’s
defense in the 2011 Action did not threaten the judgment issued in the
2005 Action or, as Marcel argues, “achieve the same practical result”
that the above-mentioned principles seek to avoid. Brief for Re-
spondent 31-32. Indeed, while the judgment in the 2005 Action
plainly prohibited Lucky Brand from using “Get Lucky,” it did not do
the same with respect to Lucky Brand’s continued, standalone use of
its own marks containing the word “Lucky”—the only conduct at
issue in the 2011 Action. Put simply, Lucky Brand’s defense to new
claims in the 2011 Action did not risk impairing the 2005 judgment.

Nor do cases like Beloit v. Morgan, 7 Wall. 619 (1869), aid Marcel.
See Brief for Respondent 32-33. To be sure, Beloit held that a
defendant in a second suit over bonds “of the same issue” was
precluded from raising a defense it had not raised in the first suit. 7
Wall., at 620. But the Court there explained that the judgment in the
first suit “established conclusively the original validity of the securi-
ties described in the bill, and the liability of the town to pay them.” Id.,
at 623. In other words, by challenging the validity of all bonds of the
same issue, the defense in the second suit would have threatened the
validity of the judgment in the first suit. The same cannot be said of the
defense raised in the 2011 Action vis-à-vis the judgment in the 2005
Action.

*    *    *
At bottom, Marcel’s 2011 Action challenged different conduct—

and raised different claims—from the 2005 Action. Under those
circumstances, Marcel cannot preclude Lucky Brand from raising
new defenses. The judgment of the Second Circuit is therefore
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reversed, and the case is remanded for proceedings consistent with this
opinion.

It is so ordered.
))))))))))))))))))

1See Complaint for Injunctive Relief and Trademark Infringement in No. 1:11-cv-
05523 (SDNY), Doc. 1, ¶15 (“Despite the entry of the [2005 Action judgment], [Lucky
Brand] ha[s] continued to willfully . . . infringe [Marcel’s] GET LUCKY mark by using
the Lucky Brand marks in the identical manner and form and on the same goods for
which [it] w[as] found liable for infringement”); id., ¶20 (“Despite the entry of the”
2005 Action judgment, Lucky Brand has “continued its uninterrupted and willful use
of the Lucky Brand marks and any other trademarks including the word ‘Lucky’ ”).

2There may be good reasons to question any application of claim preclusion to
defenses. It has been noted that in suits involving successive claims against the same
defendant, courts often “assum[e] that the defendant may raise defenses in the second
action that were not raised in the first, even though they were equally available and
relevant in both actions.” Wright & Miller §4414. This is because “[v]arious considera-
tions, other than actual merits, may govern” whether to bring a defense, “such as the
smallness of the amount or the value of the property in controversy, the difficulty of 

obtaining the necessary evidence, the expense of the litigation, and [a party’s] own
situation.” Cromwell v. County of Sac, 94 U.S. 351, 356 (1877). Here, however, this
Court need not determine when (if ever) applying claim preclusion to defenses may be
appropriate, because a necessary predicate—identity of claims—is lacking.

3One might ask: If any preclusion of defenses (under the claim-preclusion rubric)
requires identity of claims in two suits, how could the second similar suit have avoided
standard claim preclusion in the first place? Different contexts may yield different
answers. In a judgment-enforcement context, the answer may be that claim preclusion
applies only “to a final judgment rendered in an action separate from that in which the
doctrine is asserted.” 18 J. Moore, D. Coquillette, G. Joseph, G. Vairo, & C. Varner,
Federal Practice §131.31[1], p. 131-116 (3d ed. 2019) (emphasis added). Thus—
although claim preclusion does apply to a later, standalone suit seeking relief that could
have been obtained in the first—it “is not applicable to . . . efforts to obtain supplemen-
tal relief in the original action, or direct attacks on the judgment.” Ibid (footnote de-
leted). The upshot is that—even if a court deems the underlying core of operative facts
to be the same—a plaintiff in that circumstance is not precluded from enforcing its
rights with respect to continuing wrongful conduct.

*        *        *
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Criminal law—Counsel—Ineffectiveness—
Sentencing—Federal guidelines—Career
offender—Armed Career Criminal Act—Trial
and appellate counsel did not perform defi-
ciently by failing to raise meritless arguments
that defendant’s two prior convictions under
Alabama law for distributing cocaine and one
prior conviction under Georgia law for traf-
ficking in cocaine could not serve as predicate
controlled substance offenses for career of-
fender provision of sentencing guidelines or as
predicate serious drug offenses under Armed
Career Criminal Act—Prior Alabama convic-
tions categorically qualify as predicate offenses
under both the Act and the career offender
provision of guidelines, and Georgia prior
conviction qualifies as predicate offense under
Act
SHEDRICK D. HOLLIS, Petitioner-Appellant, v. UNITED
STATES OF AMERICA, Respondent-Appellee. 11th Circuit.
Case No. 19-11323. Non-Argument Calendar. May 6, 2020.
Appeal from the U.S. District Court for the Middle District of
Alabama (Nos. 3:16-cv-00351-WKW-WC; 3:12-cr-00017-
WKW-WC-1).

(Before WILLIAM PRYOR, BRANCH and
LUCK, Circuit Judges.)

(PER CURIAM.) Shedrick Hollis, a federal
prisoner serving a sentence of 420 months of
imprisonment for possession with intent to dis-
tribute controlled substances, 21 U.S.C. §
841(a)(1), possessing a firearm in furtherance of
a drug trafficking crime, 18 U.S.C. §
924(c)(1)(A), and possessing a firearm as a con-
victed felon, id. §§ 922(g)(1), 924(e), appeals pro
se the denial of his motion to vacate, 28 U.S.C. §
2255. This Court granted a certificate of
appealability on the issue whether trial and appel-
late counsel were ineffective for failing to argue
that Hollis’s two prior convictions for distributing
cocaine, Ala. Code § 13A-12-211, and one prior
conviction for trafficking in cocaine, O.C.G.A. §
16-13-31, could not serve as predicate controlled
substances offenses for the career-offender provi-
sion of the Sentencing Guidelines, U.S.S.G. §
4B1.1(a), or as predicate serious drug offenses
under the Armed Career Criminal Act, 18 U.S.C.
§ 924 (e)(2)(A)(ii). We affirm.

In an appeal of a denial of a motion to vacate,
we review legal conclusions de novo and factual
findings for clear error. Osley v. United States,
751 F.3d 1214, 1222 (11th Cir. 2014) [24 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C1217a].

To prevail on a claim for ineffective assistance
of counsel, a movant must prove that counsel’s
performance was deficient and that, but for coun-
sel’s deficient performance, the result of the
proceeding would have been different. Strickland
v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). There
is a “strong presumption that counsel’s conduct
falls within the wide range of reasonable profes-
sional assistance.” Id. To establish deficient

performance, a movant must prove “that no
competent counsel would have taken the action
that . . . counsel did take.” United States v.
Freixas, 332 F.3d 1314, 1319-20 (11th Cir. 2003)
[16 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C689a] (quotation marks
omitted).

A conviction under section 922(g)(1) ordi-
narily carries no mandatory-minimum penalty
and a maximum sentence of ten years of imprison-
ment. 18 U.S.C. § 924(a)(2). But the Armed
Career Criminal Act mandates a minimum sen-
tence of 15 years of imprisonment when the
defendant has three prior convictions for either
violent felonies or serious drug offenses. Id. §
924(e)(1). A “serious drug offense” includes “an
offense under State law, involving manufacturing,
distributing, or possessing with intent to manufac-
ture or distribute, a controlled substance . . . for
which a maximum term of imprisonment of ten
years or more is prescribed by law.” Id. §
924(e)(2)(A)(ii). The distribution need not in-
volve an exchange for value. United States v.
Bynum, 669 F.3d 880, 887 (8th Cir. 2012). And
we have interpreted the word “involving” broadly
in this context. See United States v. White, 837
F.3d 1225, 1235 (11th Cir. 2016) [26 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C825a].

The Sentencing Guidelines classify a defen-
dant convicted of a crime of violence or a con-
trolled substance offense as a career offender if he
was 18-years old when he committed the offense
and had at least two prior felony convictions of a
crime of violence or controlled substance offense.
U.S.S.G. § 4B1.1(a). Under the Guidelines, a
“controlled substance offense” is “an offense
under federal or state law . . . that prohibits the
manufacture, import, export, distribution, or
dispensing of a controlled substance . . . or the
possession of a controlled substance . . . with
intent to manufacture, import, export, distribute,
or dispense.” U.S.S.G. § 4B1.1, comment. (n.1);
U.S.S.G. § 4B1.2(b).

We use the categorical approach to determine
whether a state conviction qualifies as a predicate
serious drug offense under the Act or as a predi-
cate controlled substance offense under the
Guidelines. Shular v. United States, 140 S. Ct.
779, 783 (2020) [28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S54a].
Under this approach, we consider only the fact of
the prior conviction and the elements of the of-
fense, not the particular facts of the defendant’s
crime. See White, 837 F.3d at 1229 (holding that
a defendant’s prior convictions under Alabama
statutes prohibiting possession of marijuana for
“other than personal use” and cocaine trafficking,
including being in possession of 28 grams or more
of cocaine, qualified as serious drug offenses
under Act). If the state prior conviction has the
same elements as the federal definition, then it
categorically qualifies as a predicate offense.
Descamps v. United States, 570 U.S. 254, 260-61
(2013) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S343a]; United

States v. Smith, 775 F.3d 1262, 1267 (11th Cir.
2014) [25 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C724a]; see also
Shular, 140 S. Ct. at 785-77 (holding that the
conduct specified in the statutory definition of
serious drug offense, not a comparison to a ge-
neric offense, provides the basis for determining
whether a prior state conviction qualifies as a
predicate offense). For a state drug offense to
qualify as a predicate offense under the career-
offender guideline, the language of the statute
need not match the Guidelines definition exactly.
United States v. Madera-Madera, 333 F.3d 1228,
1233 (11th Cir. 2003) [16 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C705a].

Hollis cannot prove that his counsel rendered
ineffective assistance. Hollis’s prior convictions
in Alabama categorically qualify as predicate
offenses under both the Act and the career-of-
fender provision of the Guidelines, and his prior
conviction in Georgia qualifies as a predicate
offense under the Act.

Hollis’s prior convictions under Alabama law
satisfy the federal definitions of both “an offense
under State law, involving manufacturing, distrib-
uting, or possessing with intent to manufacture or
distribute, a controlled substance . . . for which a
maximum term of imprisonment of ten years or
more is prescribed by law,” 18 U.S.C. §
924(e)(2)(A)(ii), and “an offense under federal or
state law . . . that prohibits the manufacture,
import, export, distribution, or dispensing of a
controlled substance . . . or the possession of a
controlled substance . . . with intent to manufac-
ture, import, export, distribute, or dispense,”
U.S.S.G. § 4B1.1, comment. (n.1); U.S.S.G. §
4B1.2(b). Under Alabama law, a person commits
the crime of unlawful distribution of a controlled
substance if he “sells, furnishes, gives away,
delivers, or distributes a controlled substance.”
Ala. Code § 13A-12-211(a). That offense is a
class B felony punishable by up to 20 years of
imprisonment. Id. §§ 13A-5-6(a)(2), 13A-12-
211(b). “Distribution of cocaine includes selling,
furnishing, or delivering cocaine.” Hemphill v.
State, 669 So. 2d 1020, 1022 (Ala. Crim App.
1992); see also Carson v. State, 610 So. 2d 1251,
1252 (Ala. Crim. App. 1992) (“A person violates
§ 13A-12-211 if he participates in the sale of a
controlled substance.”).

Hollis’s prior conviction under Georgia law
also qualifies as a predicate offense under the Act.
Under Georgia law, anyone who “sells, manufac-
tures, delivers, or brings into [Georgia] or who is
in possession of 28 grams or more of cocaine”
commits trafficking in cocaine. O.C.G.A. § 16-
13-31(a)(1). The mandatory minimum penalty for
trafficking in cocaine ranges from 10 to 25 years
of imprisonment depending on the quantity
involved. Id. In Madera-Madera, we concluded
that trafficking by possessing more than 28 grams
of methamphetamine qualified as a “drug traffick-
ing offense” under section 2L1.2(b)(1)(A)(i) of
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the Guidelines. 333 F.3d at 1233-34. We rea-
soned, “In making possession of 28 grams of
methamphetamine a ‘trafficking’ offense, Geor-
gia’s trafficking statute necessarily infers an intent
to distribute once a defendant possesses a certain
amount of drugs.” Id. at 1232. And in White, we
adopted the reasoning in Madera-Madera when
considering whether a violation of a similar
trafficking statute, Ala. Code § 13A-12-231(2),
which prohibited possession of 28 grams or more
of cocaine and did not include as an element the
intent to manufacture or distribute, qualified as a
serious drug offense under the Act. 837 F.3d at
1232-34. We ruled that serious drug offenses
include state offenses that use possession of a
specified amount of a drug to infer intent. Id.

The district court did not err. Hollis’s counsel
did not perform deficiently by failing to raise a
meritless objection. We affirm the denial of
Hollis’s motion to vacate.1

AFFIRMED.
))))))))))))))))))

1We grant Hollis’s motion for leave to file an out-of-
time reply brief.

*        *        *

Criminal law—Felon in possession of fire-
arm—Jurisdiction—Defendant’s knowledge
of possession of firearm and of status as a
person barred from possessing firearm—
Impact of Supreme Court decision in Rehaif v. 
United States—District court has jurisdiction
over felon-in-possession indictment filed be-
fore Rehaif even if indictment did not charge
knowledge-of-status element—jury instruc-
tions—No plain error resulted from district
court’s failure to instruct jury on knowledge-
of-status element where record clearly demon-
strated that it would be implausible for defen-
dant not to have been aware of his felony
status—Plea—Defendant not entitled to vaca-
tion of plea on second count of felon-in-posses-
sion on ground that plea colloquy omitted
knowledge-of-status element because defen-
dant cannot demonstrate reasonable probabil-
ity that he would not have entered plea but for
the error—Evidence—District court did not
abuse discretion by permitting arresting offi-
cer to testify on relationship between guns and
drug activity—Officer did not provide im-
proper expert testimony, as testimony did not
require scientific, technical, or specialized
knowledge but was instead rationally based on
officer’s perception acquired during his time
as a police officer in narcotics division— Dis-
trict court did not abuse discretion by permit-
ting officer to testify that he believed defendant
possessed a “sellable” amount of meth when he
was arrested—Where a defendant contests at
trial that he knowingly possessed gun, evidence
of possession of illegal drugs is relevant to
determining whether defendant knowingly
possessed weapon found in close proximity to
drugs—Further, defendant contested issue of
whether amount of meth he possessed was
sellable or solely for personal use, and govern-

ment was entitled to rebut his characteriza-
tion; and although amount of meth recovered
was less than one gram, there was additional
evidence supporting inference that amount
was indeed “sellable”—Sentencing—Armed
Career Criminal Act—Predicate convictions—
Whether Alabama convictions for first-degree
burglary were proper predicates for ACCA
sentence not addressed on appeal because
record is clear that district court would have
imposed the same sentence regardless of
whether the ACCA mandatory minimum
applied—180-month sentence imposed was not
substantively unreasonable
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff-Appellee, v.
DUSTIN LEE MCLELLAN, Defendant-Appellant. 11th
Circuit. Case No. 18-13289. May 6, 2020. Appeal from the
U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Alabama (No.
1:17-cr-00093-KD-B-1).

(Before ED CARNES, Chief Judge, ROSEN-
BAUM, and BOGGS,* Circuit Judges.)

(BOGGS, Circuit Judge.) Dustin McLellan was
charged with three counts of being a felon in
possession of a firearm, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 922(g)(1). He was convicted of the first count
after a jury trial, and later pleaded guilty to the
second count in exchange for the government’s
agreement to drop the third count. Based on three
prior state felony convictions, he was sentenced
under the Armed Career Criminal Act (ACCA) to
180 months of imprisonment. McLellan now
appeals, offering three lines of argument. First, he
contends that the district court abused its discre-
tion when it permitted one of his arresting officers
to offer improper “expert” testimony at trial on the
correlation between guns and drug activity and to
suggest that McLellan was selling drugs. Second,
he contends that his sentence under the ACCA
was improper because Alabama’s first-degree
burglary statute—the statute for two of his prior
felonies—criminalizes more conduct than the
ACCA’s “generic” definition of burglary, in
contravention of Supreme Court precedent. See,
e.g., Mathis v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 2243,
2248 (2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S315a].
Third, after McLellan filed his appeal, the Su-
preme Court decided Rehaif v. United States, 139
S. Ct. 2191 (2019) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S1011a], which held that in a felon-in-possession
prosecution, the government must prove that the
defendant “knew he belonged to the relevant
category of persons barred from possessing a
firearm.” Id. at 2200. McLellan argues that, based
on Rehaif, his convictions must be vacated be-
cause his indictment did not allege, the jury was
not instructed to find, and his plea colloquy did
not address, whether he knew he was a felon when
he possessed the firearm. We affirm, but remand
for clarification of the judgment to reflect the
sentence the district court said it would have
imposed if the Armed Career Criminal Act did not
apply.

I. FACTS AND
PROCEDURAL HISTORY

McLellan’s first felon-in-possession count
stems from his arrest on March 22, 2017. At
around 12:30 p.m. that day, two officers from the

Brewton, Alabama, police department found
McLellan asleep in his car, which was parked in a
secluded area known to the officers as a place that
was frequently used for illegal narcotics transac-
tions and dumping. As the officers approached
McLellan’s car, one officer saw drug parapherna-
lia in plain view inside the car, as well as a
“crystalline-type substance” on McLellan’s lap,
which was later found to be methamphetamine.
The other officer saw a firearm located on the
center console area of the car, within McLellan’s
reach. McLellan was arrested following a pat-
down and search in and around the car, which
revealed a digital scale with white residue on it, a
glass pipe also with white residue, several empty
plastic bags, a syringe, and four different types of
tablets in different bags.

On May 24, 2017, a grand jury indicted
McLellan on one count of being a felon in posses-
sion of a firearm, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
922(g)(1). A superseding indictment later added
two more § 922(g)(1) counts against McLellan,
stemming from incidents that had occurred before
his March 2017 arrest. McLellan went to trial on
the first count, where he was convicted.

Following his conviction at trial, McLellan
agreed to plead guilty to the second count in
exchange for the government’s dismissal of the
third count. On October 23, 2017, McLellan
admitted to the following facts in support of his
guilty plea on the second count:

[O]n or about August 19th, 2016 in the South-
ern District of Alabama, the defendant was
driving a car in Atmore when he was pulled
over for a traffic stop. In the search of that car,
the police officers recovered a Highpoint nine
millimeter handgun from the glove compart-
ment, Serial Number P1562393. The Govern-
ment would prove that the handgun was man-
ufactured in Ohio; therefore, outside of the
State of Alabama and was in and affecting
interstate commerce. The Government would
prove that the defendant willfully and know-
ingly possessed that firearm and that prior to
the date that the defendant possessed that
firearm, he had been convicted of a felony, a
crime punishable by imprisonment for a term
exceeding one year; namely, burglary in the
first degree on September 23rd of 1999 in the
Circuit Court of Baldwin County Alabama,
Case Number CC1999-000260.
McLellan’s Presentence Investigation Report

noted that he qualified as an armed career criminal
under the ACCA because he had three or more
prior convictions for “violent felonies” or “serious
drug offenses.” See 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(1).
McLellan has two Alabama first-degree burglary
convictions and a conviction for Attempted
Unlawful Manufacture of a Controlled Substance
(which McLellan does not dispute is a “serious
drug offense”). The district court sentenced
McLellan to 180 months each on the two convic-
tions, with the terms to run concurrently. He now
appeals.

II. DISCUSSION

A. Testimony at Trial
McLellan argues that the district court erred

when it permitted one of his arresting officers,
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Matthew Jordan, to testify about certain matters at
trial. We address these evidentiary arguments
first, because their disposition determines whether
there can be a retrial. Because McLellan preserved
these arguments by objecting at trial, we review
the district court’s evidentiary rulings for abuse of
discretion. United States v. Jiminez, 224 F.3d
1243, 1249 (11th Cir. 2000).

1. Rule 701
First, McLellan argues that the district court

improperly permitted Officer Jordan, “to testify as
an expert” on the relationship between guns and
drug activity. At trial, Officer Jordan was asked:
“Now, based on your training and experience, is
there a correlation between weapons and drugs?”
to which he responded, “[y]es, there is.” Officer
Jordan then explained that it was “very common”
for individuals involved in narcotic activity “to
possess handguns, a lot of times for protection”
because of the threat of “robbery of their narcot-
ics” and the “sometimes large amounts of money
they possess as well.”

Under the Federal Rules of Evidence, a wit-
ness’s opinion testimony—opinions of matters
over which they do not have direct knowledge—
is classified as either lay testimony or expert
testimony. “At the defendant’s request,” the
government must disclose before trial any witness
it wishes to present as an expert and must also
provide the defendant with a summary of the
expected testimony. See Fed. R. Crim. P.
16(a)(1)(G); United States v. Stahlman, 934 F.3d
1199, 1219 (11th Cir. 2019) [28 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C158a]. A witness that is not classified as an
expert can offer an opinion only if it is: “(a) ratio-
nally based on the witness’s perception; (b) help-
ful to clearly understanding the witness’s testi-
mony or to determining a fact in issue; and (c) not
based on scientific, technical, or other specialized
knowledge within the scope of Rule 702.” Fed. R.
Evid. 701.

Contrary to McLellan’s insistence, Officer
Jordan did not provide an improper expert opin-
ion. His testimony did not require any scientific,
technical, or specialized knowledge, but was
rationally based on his perception of the relation-
ship between guns and drug activity that he ac-
quired during his time as a police officer in the
narcotics division.1 We have held that “[a] witness
is permitted to deliver a lay opinion testimony
based on his professional experiences,” and
Officer Jordan’s testimony involved precisely the
type of knowledge that is acquired from the
professional experiences of a police officer.
United States v. Williams, 865 F.3d 1328, 1341,
1342 (11th Cir. 2017) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C43a].

Indeed, Officer Jordan’s testimony was no
different from the testimony at issue in Williams,
in which several Coast Guard officers were asked
for their opinions on the contents of certain pack-
ages that were thrown off the side of a boat during
an arrest at sea. The officers testified that, based
on the size and appearance of the packages, they
believed that the packages contained cocaine. Id.
at 1341-42. We held that the district court did not
abuse its discretion in admitting the testimony
because the lay opinion of a law-enforcement

officer does not “automatically become[ ] an
expert opinion simply because it involves knowl-
edge that preexisted the investigation in the pres-
ent case.” Id. at 1342. This conclusion is in line
with several of our earlier precedents, in which we
have permitted law-enforcement witnesses to
offer lay testimony “based upon their particular-
ized knowledge garnered from years of experi-
ence within the field.” Tampa Bay Shipbuilding &
Repair Co. v. Cedar Shipping Co., Ltd., 320 F.3d
1213, 1223 (11th Cir. 2003) [16 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C296a]; see also Stahlman, 934 F.3d at 1223
(permitting an FBI agent to offer lay testimony
about the nature of an online classified ad in a sex-
crimes case); United States v. Tinoco, 304 F.3d
1088, 1119 (11th Cir. 2002) [15 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C991a] (permitting an officer to offer his
characterization of a vessel as a “go-fast” boat);
United States v. Novaton, 271 F.3d 968, 1008-09
(11th Cir. 2001) [15 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C14b]
(permitting officers to offer lay testimony about
the meaning of coded terms in a drug-trafficking
case).

This was not a situation in which Officer
Jordan’s testimony would have improperly preju-
diced the jury towards a certain view of evidence
that was otherwise unambiguous. See United
States v. Hawkins, 934 F.3d 1251, 1265 (11th Cir.
2019) [28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C169a] (holding
that the district court committed plain error when
it permitted a narcotics agent to repeatedly sum-
marize his interpretation of unambiguous phone
calls, which “effectively spoon-fed his interpreta-
tions” to the jury (citation omitted)). Instead,
Officer Jordan merely offered his view of the
relationship between guns and drug activity; a
view he acquired from observations he made as a
police officer, and one that did not require any
additional specialized skills or training to obtain.
The jury was free to reject that interpretation, and
there is no evidence from the trial record to sug-
gest that it was improperly prejudiced by the
testimony. The district court thus did not abuse its
discretion in permitting Officer Jordan’s testi-
mony on this relationship.

2. Rule 403
Second, McLellan argues that the district court

abused its discretion under Federal Rule of Evi-
dence 403 when it permitted Officer Jordan to
testify that he believed McLellan possessed a
“sellable” amount of meth when he was arrested.
Under Rule 403, “[t]he court may exclude rele-
vant evidence if its probative value is substantially
outweighed by a danger of one or more of the
following: unfair prejudice, confusing the issues,
misleading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or
needlessly presenting cumulative evidence.” Fed.
R. Evid. 403.

McLellan argues that Officer Jordan’s testi-
mony was unfairly prejudicial because it sug-
gested that McLellan was a drug dealer. But we
have held that in a situation such as this, in which
the defendant contests at trial that he knowingly
possessed the gun, “evidence of possession of
illegal drugs is relevant to determining whether a
defendant knowingly possessed a weapon found
in close proximity to drugs.” United States v.
Thomas, 242 F.3d 1028, 1031 (11th Cir. 2001).

Put simply, the connection between drug-dealing
and firearm possession is an appropriate one to be
drawn during a felon-in-possession case.

Furthermore, McLellan contested the issue of
whether the amount of meth he possessed was
sellable or was solely for personal use, and thus
the government was entitled to rebut his charac-
terization. During cross examination, McLellan’s
counsel asked Officer Jordan whether he believed
the amount of meth that McLellan possessed was
“a personal-use quantity.” Officer Jordan re-
sponded that he could not say for sure. McLellan
thus encouraged the jury to consider the relevance
of this issue and therefore on re-direct, the govern-
ment was entitled to ask Officer Jordan whether
he believed the amount was “sellable.”

Finally, although the amount of meth recov-
ered from McLellan was less than one gram, there
was additional evidence to support the inference
that that amount was indeed “sellable,” and was
thus not unfairly prejudicial. McLellan was found
with several items associated with drug selling,
including a digital scale with white residue on it,
several smaller plastic bags inside a larger one, a
glass pipe, a syringe, and four different types of
tablets in different bags. These items are associ-
ated with drug activity and were introduced at
trial. The jury therefore did not even need Officer
Jordan’s testimony to draw the potential connec-
tion between McLellan’s activities and drug
dealing. The circumstances do not suggest that
there was any undue prejudice from Officer Jor-
dan’s testimony that would have “substantially
outweighed” the relevance of it. Fed. R. Evid.
403. Given the “extraordinary remedy” of exclud-
ing evidence under Rule 403, the district court did
not abuse its discretion in permitting Officer
Jordan’s testimony. United States v. Troya, 733
F.3d 1125, 1132 (11th Cir. 2013) [24 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C719a] (citation omitted).

B. Sentencing
McLellan also argues that his 180-month

sentence should be vacated because two of his
predicate felonies were wrongly classified as
“violent” felonies under the ACCA. The ACCA
requires a 15-year mandatory minimum sentence
for a defendant convicted of being a felon in
possession if the defendant has three or more prior
convictions for a “serious drug offense” or a
“violent felony,” which includes “burglary, arson,
or extortion.” 18 U.S.C. §§ 924(e)(1),
(e)(2)(B)(ii). McLellan argues that two of his
predicate felonies—Alabama convictions for
first-degree burglary2—cannot serve as predicate
offenses because the statute under which he was
convicted criminalized more conduct than “ge-
neric” burglary.3

We decline McLellan’s invitation to wade into
the depths of evaluating the applicability of the
ACCA, because the record is clear that the district
court would have imposed the same 180-month
sentence regardless of whether the mandatory
minimum applied. At McLellan’s sentencing, the
district court noted that even if the ACCA were
inapplicable, it still would have sentenced
McLellan “to 10 years and 5 years to run consecu-
tive” on his two convictions, because “the 180
months is sufficient, no more greater than neces-
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sary, to fulfill the sentencing factors under [28
U.S.C. §] 3553.”4 When “a decision either way
will not affect the outcome of” a sentencing, it is
unnecessary for us to decide it. United States v.
Keene, 470 F.3d 1347, 1348 (11th Cir. 2006) [20
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C149a]. Under Keene, “we
need not review an issue when (1) the district
court states it would have imposed the same
sentence, even absent an alleged error, and (2) the
sentence is substantively reasonable.” United
States v. Goldman, ___ F.3d ___, 2020 WL
1444961 at *6 (11th Cir. Mar. 25, 2020) [28 Fla.
L. Weekly Fed. C944a]. Our rationale for this
policy is to avoid “pointless reversals and unnec-
essary do-overs of sentence proceedings.” Keene,
470 F.3d. at 1349 (citation omitted). Since the
district court clearly stated that it would have
imposed the same sentence, we will review
McLellan’s sentence to ensure only that it was
substantively reasonable.

McLellan’s 180-month sentence was not
substantively unreasonable. McLellan’s Presen-
tence Investigation Report showed that, by the
time of his convictions in the current case at age
thirty-five, McLellan had at least fourteen prior
convictions. For example, in 1999, McLellan was
convicted of one of his first-degree burglaries for
breaking into a dwelling and stealing two shot-
guns, a rifle, and a hunting bow. In a different
burglary, he was armed with a gun and stole two
shotguns and three pistols. In 2003, McLellan was
convicted of third-degree domestic violence after
punching a victim twice in the face. Additionally,
by the time he reached his thirties, McLellan had
become heavily involved with the possession,
manufacture, and sale of drugs. In 2012,
McLellan was convicted of two counts related to
the unlawful manufacture of controlled sub-
stances. By the time of his sentencing in this case,
he had additional charges pending on five counts
of possessing a controlled substance, two counts
relating to the possession and sale of drug para-
phernalia, one count of attempting to elude, and
two counts of unlawfully possessing a pistol. The
probation office also notified the district court that
while McLellan was awaiting sentencing in this
case, he had made a knife while in prison and had
stabbed three inmates with it. In short, McLellan’s
criminal history demonstrates a strong disrespect
for the law as well as a consistent pattern of vio-
lence.

The district court, in sentencing McLellan,
properly considered his prior convictions, as well
as multiple other factors relevant to § 3553(a).
The court expressly noted that McLellan, in
addition to the illegal-firearm-possession convic-
tions from this case and the first-degree burglaries
that were at issue at the hearing, had “participated
in several violent acts,” including his domestic-
violence conviction and his stabbing of a fellow
inmate while he was incarcerated. The court
further determined that McLellan’s criminal
history suggested “not only just drug use but
being involved in the drug sales also.” It also
considered that although McLellan has a GED, he
has no extensive work history.

Thus, given the “great discretion” that the
district court enjoys in sentencing, we cannot say

that “we are left with the ‘definite and firm’ con-
viction that the district court committed a clear
error of judgment in weighing the § 3553(a)
factors.” Goldman, 2020 WL 1444961 at *6
(quoting United States v. Irey, 612 F.3d 1160,
1190 (11th Cir. 2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1231a] (en banc)). We thus decline to “send the
case back to the district court since it has already
told us that it would impose exactly the same
sentence, a sentence we would be compelled to
affirm.” Keene, 470 F.3d at 1350.

C. Impact of Rehaif v. United States
During the pendency of this appeal, the Su-

preme Court decided Rehaif v. United States, 139
S. Ct. 2191 (2019) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S1011a], which held that in a felon-in-possession
prosecution, “the Government must prove both
that the defendant knew he possessed a firearm
and that he knew he belonged to the relevant
category of persons barred from possessing a
firearm.” Id. at 2200. Supplemental briefing was
submitted, and McLellan now makes two addi-
tional arguments based on Rehaif. First, he con-
tends that his superseding indictment failed to
charge an offense because it did not include a
knowledge-of-status element, thus depriving the
district court of jurisdiction over his case. Second,
he contends that both of his convictions must be
overturned because his jury instructions at trial on
count one, and his plea colloquy on count two,
failed to include the knowledge-of-status element.

1. Jurisdiction
For each count against McLellan, his super-

seding indictment stated, in relevant part, that
“having been convicted of a crime punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one (1) year,
to-wit: Burglary, First Degree, on September 23,
1999, in the Circuit Court of Baldwin County,
Alabama . . . [McLellan] did knowingly possess,
in and affecting commerce, a firearm . . . [i]n
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
922(g)(1).” McLellan argues that, because the
indictment failed to include the knowledge-of-
status element, as discussed in Rehaif, it failed to
charge a crime and thus deprived the district court
of jurisdiction over his case.

However, this argument is squarely precluded
by our recent holding in United States v. Moore,
___ F.3d ___, 2020 WL 1527975 at *9 (11th Cir.
Mar. 31, 2020) [28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C983a],
which held that a district court has jurisdiction
over a felon-in-possession indictment that was
filed before Rehaif even if it did not charge the
knowledge-of-status element. This holding
squarely follows the Supreme Court’s holding in
United States v. Cotton, 535 U.S. 625, 630 (2002)
[15 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S287a], as well as our
earlier holding in United States v. Brown, 752
F.3d 1344, 1354 (11th Cir. 2014) [24 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C1387a], both of which held that an
indictment’s failure to charge an element of the
offense was a non-jurisdictional defect that did
not affect the rights of the accused.

The defendants in Cotton had argued that
because their indictment failed to charge the
quantity of drugs they were accused of traffick-
ing—a sentence-enhancing element under
Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000)—

then the district court did not have jurisdiction
over their case. But the Supreme Court rejected
that argument, holding that “defects in an indict-
ment do not deprive a court of its power to adjudi-
cate a case.” Cotton, 535 U.S. at 630. We built
upon that foundation in Brown, which involved a
defendant who had pleaded guilty to receiving
counterfeit money, but whose indictment failed to
expressly allege that she had knowingly violated
the statute. On appeal, the defendant argued that
her conviction should be overturned because the
omission of the mens rea element deprived the
district court of jurisdiction. We rejected the
argument, noting that the omission of a mens rea
element does not render the indictment incapable
of charging a crime, which is all that is necessary
to vest the district court with jurisdiction. See
Brown, 752 F.3d at 1353-54. We noted that the
proper question to ask in determining whether an
indictment is jurisdictionally defective is
“whether the indictment charged the defendant
with a criminal ‘offense[ ] against the laws of the
United States.’ ” Id. at 1353 (quoting 18 U.S.C. §
3231). For example, if an indictment charges that
the defendant violated a regulation that carried
only civil penalties, but does not allege any corre-
sponding criminal violation, that indictment
would fail to charge a crime against the United
States and would thus be jurisdictionally defec-
tive. See United States v. Izurieta, 710 F.3d 1176,
1184 (11th Cir. 2013) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C47a]. But there is no jurisdictional defect if an
indictment merely fails to include that the defen-
dant knowingly committed the crime but other-
wise clearly alleges the unlawful conduct that the
defendant is accused of committing.

Here, the indictment unquestionably charged
McLellan with violating the felon-in-possession
statute, and even included one of the predicate
felonies that formed the basis of the accusation.
The specific prohibited conduct—the possession
of the firearm as a felon—was clearly described in
the indictment, and thus the indictment did not
deprive the district court of jurisdiction.

2. Challenges to Jury Instructions
and Plea Colloquy

Having concluded that the district court had
jurisdiction over McLellan’s case, we next review
McLellan’s substantive challenges to his jury
instructions and plea colloquy. McLellan failed to
raise either challenge before the district court, and
thus we review for plain error. See United States
v. Reed, 941 F.3d 1018, 1020 (11th Cir. 2019) [28
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C503a]; Moore, 2020 WL
1527975 at *12.

To overturn a conviction on plain-error re-
view, the defendant “must show that: (1) an error
occurred; (2) the error was plain; (3) it affected his
substantial rights; and (4) it seriously affected the
fairness of the judicial proceedings.” United
States v. Gresham, 325 F.3d 1262, 1265 (11th Cir.
2003) [16 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C459a]. The
Supreme Court has since clarified that for an error
to have affected a defendant’s substantial rights,
there must be “ ‘a reasonable probability that, but
for the error,’ the outcome of the proceeding
would have been different[.]” Molina-Martinez v.
United States, 136 S. Ct. 1338, 1343 (2016) [26
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Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S94a] (quoting United States
v. Dominguez Benitez, 542 U.S. 74, 76, 82 (2004)
[17 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S379a]).

McLellan contends that his conviction at trial
on his first felon-in-possession count should be
overturned because the jury instructions failed to
include the knowledge-of-status element. How-
ever, this error, although now plain—thus meet-
ing the first two parts of the plain-error analysis—
did not affect McLellan’s substantial rights or the
fairness of the judicial proceedings.

It is undisputed that McLellan is a felon, and
he stipulated to that fact at trial. Because of this
stipulation, made pursuant to Old Chief v. United
States, 519 U.S. 172, 191-92 (1997), the govern-
ment was prohibited from introducing any evi-
dence of McLellan’s prior felonies. But that does
not mean that the government would have been
similarly prohibited had McLellan actually con-
tested the knowledge-of-status element at trial.
McLellan has multiple prior felonies, for which he
served approximately ten years in prison. If
McLellan is retried, he would not be entitled to
have simply a different jury instruction but with
the same evidence that was presented at trial. He
would instead be confronted with the evidence of
his knowledge of his felonies.

Indeed, it is inconceivable that McLellan did
not know that he was a felon when he possessed
the gun. The record shows that McLellan has
served approximately ten years in prison, on and
off, including an almost eight-year long sentence
between 2003 and 2011 for a probation violation
on a first-degree burglary conviction.5 At his
sentencing, McLellan acknowledged that he “was
sent to prison for 10 years” for prior burglaries.
McLellan also made a statement to the judge
indicating that, before the time of these offenses,
he knew that he was not permitted to possess a
firearm due to his prior convictions. Referring to
an earlier occasion, he recounted that: “Me and
my mother got in an argument because she had
my uncle come in there with the shotgun. . . . And
I remember saying if I get caught with one of
these—and I made a comment about going to
prison because I just wanted the shotgun put back
in place to have something to protect us with.” In
short, this is not a situation in which McLellan’s
felony status was “hotly contested.” See United
States v. Balde, 943 F.3d 73, 97 (2d Cir. 2019).
We have held that, where the record clearly dem-
onstrates that it would be implausible for the
defendant to not have been aware of his felony
status, a Rehaif error does not affect his substan-
tial rights. Reed, 941 F.3d at 1022. The fairness of
the proceedings takes on additional importance
here as well, as “[w]e will not penalize the govern-
ment for its failure to introduce evidence that it
had but that, prior to Rehaif, it would have been
precluded from introducing.” United States v.
Miller, ___ F.3d ___, 2020 WL 1592254 at *4,
(2d Cir. Apr. 2, 2020). Indeed, it would negatively
affect the fairness and reputation of the judicial
proceedings to remand this case for retrial when
there is clear evidence that McLellan was aware of
his felony status. There was thus no plain error in
the district court’s failure to instruct the jury of the
knowledge-of-status element.

Finally, McLellan argues that even if his
conviction at trial on count one is upheld, that his
guilty plea on count two should still be overturned
because his plea colloquy omitted the knowledge-
of-status element. In effect, McLellan is arguing
that he never pleaded guilty to a crime, because
the government did not proffer, and he did not
admit, that he knew he was a felon when he pos-
sessed the gun in the circumstances described by
his plea colloquy. However, this argument is
unavailing because McLellan cannot demonstrate
“a reasonable probability that, but for the error, he
would not have entered the plea.” Dominguez
Benitez, 542 U.S. at 76. There was no contempo-
raneous evidence to suggest that, had the indict-
ment included the knowledge-of-status element,
McLellan would have changed his plea and
proceeded to trial on the second count. Proceed-
ing to trial would have deprived McLellan of any
benefit of his guilty plea, and he would have
risked an additional conviction on his third felon-
in-possession count, which had been dismissed
pursuant to the plea. And as discussed above, if
McLellan had proceeded to trial, the record re-
veals no basis for concluding that the government
would have been unable to able to prove that
McLellan knew he was a felon when he possessed
the gun. We thus hold that any error from the lack
of a knowledge-of-status element in McLellan’s
plea colloquy did not affect his substantial rights.

***
For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM the

district court but REMAND for clarification of
the judgment to reflect the sentence the district
court said it would have imposed if the Armed
Career Criminal Act did not apply.
))))))))))))))))))

*Honorable Danny J. Boggs, United States Circuit
Judge for the Sixth Circuit, sitting by designation.

1Earlier in his testimony, Officer Jordan testified
that he had been a police officer in the Brewton Police
Department for approximately three years, was assigned
to the narcotics division at the time of McLellan’s arrest,
and had made approximately 150 arrests over the course
of his career.

2McLellan’s third predicate felony was a conviction
for Attempted Unlawful Manufacture of a Controlled
Substance, which McLellan does not dispute qualifies
as a “serious drug offense.”

3This argument depends on the Supreme Court’s
holdings in cases such as Mathis v. United States, which
held that a prior felony “qualifies as an ACCA predicate
if, but only if, its elements are the same as, or narrower
than, those of the generic offense.” 136 S. Ct. at 2247.

4During another part of the hearing, the sentencing
judge stated that “if I have determined that he is a career
offender incorrectly, I would still sentence him to 15
years.” At the end of the hearing, the district court
explained that it had meant to say “armed career crimi-
nal” instead of “career offender.”

5We are permitted to “consult the whole record
when considering the effect of any error on
[McLellan’s] substantial rights.” Reed, 941 F.3d at 1021
(quoting United States v. Vonn, 535 U.S. 55, 59 (2002)
[15 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S145a]).

*        *        *

Criminal law—Habeas corpus—Felon in pos-
session of firearm—Sentencing—Armed
Career Criminal Act—Predicate convictions—
Violent felonies—Defendant’s 1996 robbery

convictions under Florida law qualified as
violent felonies under section ACCA’s ele-
ments clause, notwithstanding defendant’s
contention that convictions could have been
based on “mere snatching”—Discussion of
controlling precedent, including United States
v. Fritts—Appeals—Law the case doctrine
does not control court’s decision—In defen-
dant’s direct appeal, appellate court did not
decide, either explicitly or implicitly, whether
pre-1997 Florida robberies in Florida’s Fourth
District Court of Appeal qualified as violent
felonies under ACCA’s elements clause—
District court likewise did not err in concluding
that defendant’s Florida felony battery convic-
tion was a violent felony under ACCA
GREGORY WELCH, Petitioner-Appellant, v. UNITED
STATES OF AMERICA, Respondent-Appellee. 11th Circuit.
Case No. 14-15733. May 6, 2020. Appeal from the U.S.
District Court for the Southern District of Florida (Nos. 0:13-
cv-62770-KAM; 0:09-cr-60212-KAM-1).

(Before ROSENBAUM and TJOFLAT, Circuit
Judges, and PAULEY,* District Judge.)

(PER CURIAM.) This case is before us following
petitioner Gregory Welch’s successful appeal to
the Supreme Court. Welch previously pled guilty
to being a felon in possession of a firearm, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1). The district
court sentenced him pursuant to the Armed Career
Criminal Act, 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(1) (“ACCA”),
after determining that Welch had previously
committed three “violent felonies.” Subsequently,
Welch filed a 28 U.S.C. § 2255 motion to vacate
his sentence. That motion was denied, and this
Court declined to issue a certificate of
appealability (“COA”). The Supreme Court
vacated that order and held that its decision in
Samuel Johnson v. United States, 135 S. Ct. 2551
(2015) [25 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S459a], in which
the Court invalidated the ACCA’s “residual
clause,” applied retroactively to cases on collat-
eral review. See Welch v. United States, 136 S. Ct.
1257, 1265 (2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S77a].

Welch argues now that the predicate offenses
for his ACCA conviction were not violent felo-
nies under the ACCA’s “elements” clause, the
remaining provision of the ACCA that could still
be applicable to his case. But as we explain below,
our precedent requires us to conclude otherwise.
We therefore affirm the district court’s denial of
Welch’s § 2255 motion.

I. Background
A. Conviction and Direct Appeal

In 2009, a federal grand jury indicted Welch
on one count of being a felon in possession of a
firearm, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1).
Welch pled guilty to the indictment on September
17, 2010. His presentence investigation report
identified him as an armed career criminal under
18 U.S.C. § 924(e)—who was thus subject to a
mandatory minimum sentence of 15 years—based
on these three prior Florida convictions: (i) two
separate 1996 Florida strong-arm-robbery convic-
tions, under Fla. Stat. § 812.13(1); and (ii) a 2005
felony-battery conviction, under Fla. Stat. §
784.041(1).

Welch objected to his classification as an
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armed career criminal and argued at his sentenc-
ing in 2010 that neither his Florida robbery con-
victions nor his Florida felony-battery conviction
were “violent felonies,” as defined by 18 U.S.C. §
924(e)(2)(B). The district court overruled
Welch’s objection and determined that the con-
victions were violent felonies pursuant to both §
924(e)(2)(B)(i)’s “elements” clause and §
924(e)(2)(B)(ii)’s “residual” clause. The district
court then sentenced Welch to 15 years’ imprison-
ment, the mandatory-minimum sentence under
the ACCA.

Welch appealed, and in 2012 this Court af-
firmed his conviction and sentence. United States
v. Welch, 683 F.3d 1304 (11th Cir. 2012) [23 Fla.
L. Weekly Fed. C1141a] (“Welch Direct Ap-
peal”). On direct appeal, Welch argued, among
other things, that his 1996 robbery convictions did
not qualify as violent felonies under the ACCA.
Id. at 1310. He argued that the ACCA’s elements
clause did not apply because the degree of force
required to commit robbery was too slight to
constitute a violent felony under the ACCA. In
our discussion of that argument, we recognized
that in 1996, when Welch pled guilty to robbery,
the Florida district courts of appeal “were divided
on whether a snatching . . . amounted to robbery,”
and so we “assume[d] for purposes of analysis
that Welch pleaded guilty to robbery at a time
when mere snatching sufficed.” Id. at 1311-12.
According to Welch, mere snatching was not the
type of “violent force” that the Supreme Court has
determined is punishable under the ACCA. See id.
at 1312-13 (discussing Curtis Johnson v. United
States, 559 U.S. 133, 140 (2010)  [22 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S152a]). We agreed that the ele-
ments clause “[a]rguably . . . would not apply to
mere snatching,” but concluded that we “need not
decide whether snatching is sufficiently violent
under the elements clause . . . because it suffices
under the [ACCA’s] residual clause.” Id. at 1313.
Accordingly, we concluded that Florida robbery
qualified as a violent felony under the residual
clause and affirmed Welch’s sentence. See id. at
1313-14.

B. 28 U.S.C. § 2255 Proceedings

In 2013, Welch filed a pro se 28 U.S.C. § 2255
motion to vacate, correct, or set aside his ACCA
sentence. In relevant part, Welch argued that his
Florida robbery and Florida felony-battery con-
victions were not properly used as predicates for
his ACCA sentence. A magistrate judge recom-
mended that Welch’s § 2255 motion be denied,
concluding in relevant part that Welch was prop-
erly sentenced under the ACCA. Over Welch’s
objections, the district court adopted the magis-
trate judge’s recommendation, denied Welch’s §
2255 motion, and denied him a COA.

Welch appealed, but in 2015 this Court denied
his motion for a COA. Welch then petitioned the
Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari, arguing
that the Supreme Court’s then-recent decision in
Samuel Johnson, in which the Supreme Court
held that the ACCA’s residual clause was uncon-
stitutionally vague, see Samuel Johnson, 135 S.
Ct. at 2557-58, applied retroactively to his case
and invalidated his ACCA sentence. Welch, 136
S. Ct. at 1263. The Supreme Court granted

Welch’s petition and held that Samuel Johnson’s
void-for-vagueness holding regarding the
ACCA’s residual clause applies retroactively to
cases on collateral review. Id. at 1265. The Su-
preme Court accordingly vacated our order deny-
ing Welch a COA and remanded his case to this
Court for further proceedings, but left open the
possibility that we would affirm Welch’s sentence
“on other grounds,” including the ACCA’s ele-
ments clause. Id. at 1268.

On remand from the Supreme Court in 2016,
a judge of this Court granted Welch a COA on the
question of whether he was entitled to relief in
light of Samuel Johnson. Subsequently, we stayed
briefing in this case twice: first, pending the
issuance of this Court’s en banc decision about
Florida felony battery in United States v. Vail-
Bailon, 868 F.3d 1293 (11th Cir. 2017) [27 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C125a] (en banc), cert. denied, 138
S. Ct. 2620 (2018); and second, pending the
issuance of the Supreme Court’s decision about
Florida robbery in Stokeling v. United States, 139
S. Ct. 544 (2019) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S621a].
Those cases have been decided, and we now
address the merits of Welch’s appeal.

II. Standard of Review
We review de novo whether a prior conviction

qualifies as a violent felony under the ACCA.
United States v. Deshazior, 882 F.3d 1352, 1354
(11th Cir. 2018) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C629a],
cert. denied, 139 S. Ct. 1255 (2019).

III. Discussion
A. The Armed Career Criminal Act

A defendant is subject to the ACCA’s sentence
enhancement if he or she was previously con-
victed of at least three “violent felon[ies]” or
“serious drug offense[s].” See 18 U.S.C. §
924(e)(1). The latter group of predicate crimes,
“serious drug offenses,” is not at issue in this case.

The ACCA’s definition of “violent felony”
includes three categories of offenses. The first part
of the definition, which is known as the elements
clause, refers to a crime that “has as an element the
use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical
force against the person of another.” Id. at §
924(e)(2)(B)(i). The second, known as the
enumerated-offenses clause, refers to a crime that
is “burglary, arson, or extortion, [or] involves use
of explosives.” Id. at § 924(e)(2)(B)(ii). And the
third, known as the residual clause, refers to a
crime that “otherwise involves conduct that
presents a serious potential risk of physical injury
to another.” Id. As we have noted, the Supreme
Court has concluded that the residual clause is
unconstitutionally vague.

On appeal, Welch argues that none of his prior
Florida convictions are “violent felonies” under
the remaining clauses of the ACCA. Welch’s
robbery and felony-battery convictions are, of
course, not any of the enumerated offenses. So his
prior convictions can sustain an ACCA sentence
enhancement only if they fit within the elements
clause. We discuss both convictions in turn.

B. Florida Robbery

Under Florida law, “robbery” is defined as
follows:

[T]he taking of money or other property which

may be the subject of larceny from the person
or custody of another, with intent to either
permanently or temporarily deprive the person
or the owner of the money or other property,
when in the course of the taking there is the
use of force, violence, assault, or putting in
fear.

Fla. Stat. § 812.13(1).
There is no question that a conviction under §

812.13(1) is a violent felony under the ACCA’s
elements clause. We reached this conclusion more
than a decade ago. See United States v. Dowd, 451
F.3d 1244, 1255 (11th Cir. 2006) [19 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C688a], cert. denied, 549 U.S. 941
(2006); see also United States v. Lockley, 632
F.3d 1238, 1245 (11th Cir. 2011) [22 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C1782a] (holding Florida robbery is
a crime of violence under the elements clause in
the Sentencing Guidelines), cert. denied, 565 U.S.
885 (2011). The Supreme Court reached the same
conclusion last year. See Stokeling, 139 S. Ct. at
555. And in United States v. Fritts, we clarified
that Dowd’s and Lockley’s holdings extended to
pre-1997 convictions, when the Florida district
courts were still divided about the level of force
needed to commit robbery. See Fritts, 841 F.3d
937, 942-43 (11th Cir. 2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C1047a], cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 2264
(2017).

The question before us is whether, as Welch
asserts, our decision in his direct appeal carved
out a narrow exception for pre-1997 Florida
robbery convictions obtained in Florida’s Fourth
District Court of Appeal (“DCA”). Welch notes
that in our discussion of the elements clause, we
observed that, at the time Welch was convicted,
the Fourth DCA had not resolved whether mere
snatching of an item was sufficient to support a
robbery conviction and that an earlier Florida
Supreme Court decision had held that “ ‘any
degree of force’ would convert larceny into a
robbery.” Welch Direct Appeal, 683 F.3d at 1311
(discussing McCloud v. State, 335 So. 2d 257,
258-59 (Fla. 1976)). We therefore “assume[d] for
purposes of analysis that Welch pleaded guilty to
robbery at a time when mere snatching sufficed.”
Id. at 1311-12. And so, Welch contends, we are
required to use that assumption whenever we
review robbery convictions that were obtained in
the Fourth DCA.

Welch’s argument fails. We did not create any
such exception in Welch’s direct appeal. The
discussion that Welch relies on was not necessary
to our ultimate holding. We observed that if pre-
1997 Florida robbery qualified as a violent felony
under either the elements clause or the residual
clause, it qualified as a violent felony, nonethe-
less. And we ultimately concluded that “[w]e need
not decide whether snatching is sufficiently
violent under the elements clause . . . because it
suffices under the residual clause.” Id. at 1313.
Accordingly, our discussion of robbery under the
elements clause in Welch’s direct appeal was
dicta, and it is not binding. See United States v.
Kaley, 579 F.3d 1246, 1253 n.10 (11th Cir. 2009)
[22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C75a] (“[D]icta is de-
fined as those portions of an opinion that are not
necessary to deciding the case then before us.”
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(citations and quotation marks omitted)); see also
Edwards v. Prime, Inc., 602 F.3d 1276, 1298
(11th Cir. 2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C688a]
(“[D]icta is not binding on anyone for any pur-
pose.” (citations omitted)).

Welch retorts that the underlying assumption
from the discussion of the elements clause in his
direct appeal (that “mere snatching” would have
been enough to sustain a robbery conviction at the
time he pled guilty) is binding, and not dicta. He
asserts that that assumption was integral to our
holding in his direct appeal that a robbery convic-
tion was a “violent felony” because we assumed
that snatching would implicate the residual clause.

But our decision in Fritts resolved that issue,
and such an assumption is no longer permissible
under our binding precedent. There, we held that
the Florida Supreme Court, in its 1997 decision
Robinson v. State, 692 So. 2d 883 (Fla. 1997) [22
Fla. L. Weekly S214a], “made clear that the §
812.13 robbery statute has never included a theft
or taking by mere snatching,” and has always
required force sufficient to overcome a victim’s
resistance. Fritts, 841 F.3d at 942-43 (emphasis in
original). We further stated that “[w]hen the
Florida Supreme Court in Robinson interprets the
robbery statute, it tells us what that statute always
meant.” Id. at 943 (citation omitted). We thus
concluded that Florida robbery has always re-
quired force sufficient to satisfy the ACCA’s
elements clause. See id. We are bound by that
decision. See United States v. Steele, 147 F.3d
1316, 1317-18 (11th Cir. 1998) (en banc) (“Un-
der our prior precedent rule, a panel cannot over-
rule a prior one’s holding even though convinced
it is wrong.” (citations omitted)). Fritts thus
forecloses Welch’s argument.

Welch separately argues that we are bound by
our decision in his direct appeal as the law of the
case. Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, this
Court is generally bound by a prior appellate
decision of the same case and is precluded from
“revisiting issues that were decided explicitly or
by necessary implication in [the] prior appeal.”
Thomas v. United States, 572 F.3d 1300, 1303
(11th Cir. 2009) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1978a]
(citation and quotation marks omitted). But the
law-of-the-case doctrine does not prevent us from
considering issues that could have been, but
ultimately were not, resolved in the earlier appeal.
See id. at 1304. And the doctrine does not bar
reconsideration of an issue if there has been an
intervening change in controlling precedent. See
id. at 1303-04.

The law-of-the-case doctrine does not control
our decision here. As we have explained, in our
decision in Welch’s direct appeal, we did not
decide, either explicitly or implicitly, whether pre-
1997 Florida robberies in the Fourth DCA qualify
as violent felonies under the ACCA’s elements
clause.1

Finally, Welch argues that we should find in
his favor “to avoid expanding the inter-circuit
conflict that already exists.” He is referring to a
decision from the Ninth Circuit, United States v.
Geozos, where that court concluded that a defen-
dant could violate § 812.13 “without using violent
force.” Geozos, 870 F.3d 890, 900 (9th Cir.

2017). This argument fails. Circuit splits are an
inevitable consequence of our system of appellate
review, and we are not obligated—or permitted—
to follow what we believe to be an incorrect
decision from one of our sister circuits simply to
avoid a “conflict.” Welch’s argument to the
contrary is particularly unconvincing in a situa-
tion where our precedent controls our result and a
circuit split already exists.2

The district court thus did not err in conclud-
ing that Welch’s 1996 robbery convictions were
violent felonies that could be used to justify a
sentencing enhancement under the ACCA.

C. Florida Felony Battery

Florida’s felony-battery statute provides that
a person commits felony battery if he

(a) Actually and intentionally touches or
strikes another person against the will of the
other; and

(b) Causes great bodily harm, permanent
disability, or permanent disfigurement.

Fla. Stat. § 784.041(1).
In Vail-Bailon, this Court, sitting en banc,

held that Florida felony battery under Fla. Stat. §
784.041(1) categorically qualifies as a “crime of
violence” under § 2L1.2 of the Sentencing Guide-
lines. Vail-Bailon, 868 F.3d at 1295. That deci-
sion is binding here.3 Welch concedes this and
acknowledges that he makes the argument only to
preserve it for further review. In light of our en
banc holding in Vail-Bailon, we hold that the
district court did not err in concluding that
Welch’s Florida felony-battery conviction was a
“violent felony” under the ACCA.

IV. Conclusion
This Court’s binding precedent forecloses

Welch’s challenges to both his Florida felony-
battery conviction and his Florida robbery convic-
tions as ACCA predicate offenses. Accordingly,
we affirm the district court’s denial of Welch’s §
2255 motion.

AFFIRMED.
))))))))))))))))))

*Honorable William H. Pauley III, United States
District Judge for the Southern District of New York,
sitting by designation.

1Welch similarly argues that the Government
conceded at his original sentencing that Florida’s
robbery statute does not require the use of violent force.
At the time the Government made the supposed conces-
sion, the Government’s attorney was contrasting §
812.13 with Florida’s “Robbery by Sudden Snatching”
statute, Fla. Stat. § 812.131, which explicitly details the
amount of force needed to commit the offense. The
“concession” is better read as an acknowledgement that
the text of § 812.13 does not specify the force needed to
violate the statute.

2We also note that the Ninth Circuit has since
recognized that its decision in Geozos may no longer be
good law following the Supreme Court’s decision in
Stokeling. See Ward v. United States, 936 F.3d 914, 919
(9th Cir. 2019) (“Our prior distinction between ‘substan-
tial’ and ‘minimal’ force in the ACCA robbery context
in such cases as Molinar and Geozos cannot be recon-
ciled with the Supreme Court’s clear holding in
Stokeling.”).

3Although Vail-Bailon involved an analysis of a
“crime of violence” under the Sentencing Guidelines
and not a “violent felony” under the ACCA, we have
previously recognized—including in Welch’s direct

appeal—that “the definitions of ‘crime of violence’
under the Sentencing Guidelines and ‘violent felony’
under the [ACCA] are virtually identical,” and we “have
held that considering whether a crime is a violent felony
is similar to considering whether a conviction qualifies
as a crime of violence.” Welch Direct Appeal, 683 F.3d
at 1312 (quoting United States v. Alexander, 609 F.3d
1250, 1253 (11th Cir. 2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1011a], cert. denied, 563 U.S. 905 (2011)) (cleaned
up). Indeed, our decision in Vail-Bailon relied primarily
on the Supreme Court’s opinion in Curtis Johnson, 559
U.S. 133 (2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S152a], which
was a decision interpreting the ACCA’s elements
clause. See Vail-Bailon, 868 F.3d at 1302 (“[W]e
conclude that the test set out in Curtis Johnson articu-
lates the standard we should follow. . . .”).

))))))))))))))))))
(ROSENBAUM, Circuit Judge, concurring.) I
join the panel opinion in full because binding
precedent requires it. Welch’s primary argument
is that, notwithstanding our decisions to the
contrary, his Florida robbery conviction should
not be considered a “violent felony” because he
was convicted in Florida’s Fourth District Court
of Appeal (“DCA”) before the Florida Supreme
Court issued Robinson v. State, which articulated
the level of force needed to sustain a robbery
conviction under Florida law. See 692 So. 2d 883,
886 (Fla. 1997) [22 Fla. L. Weekly S214a]. The
panel opinion correctly concludes that our deci-
sion in United States v. Fritts, 841 F.3d 937 (11th
Cir. 2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1047a], cert.
denied, 137 S. Ct. 2264 (2017), forecloses this
argument and that we did not carve out an excep-
tion in Welch’s direct appeal for pre-1997 robbery
convictions obtained in Florida’s Fourth DCA.
Majority Op. at 7-10.

I write separately, though, because I believe
that we went too far in Fritts and that its holding
may eventually force us into an absurd result. In
Fritts, we rejected the argument that, prior to the
Florida Supreme Court’s decision in Robinson,
“only the slightest force was sufficient to convict
a defendant of Florida robbery.” Fritts, 841 F.3d
at 942. But rather than looking to the state of the
law as it actually existed in Florida’s district
courts when Fritts had been convicted (in 1989),
we simply concluded in Fritts that Robinson
“made clear that the § 812.13 robbery statute has
never included a theft or taking by mere snatch-
ing,” id. (emphasis in original), and that “[w]hen
the Florida Supreme Court in Robinson interprets
the robbery statute, it tells us what that statute
always meant.” Id. at 943 (emphasis added).

There is no question that the Florida Supreme
Court has the final say in interpreting Florida’s
statutes. When it held in Robinson that a robbery
conviction requires a perpetrator to have used
“force sufficient to overcome a victim’s resis-
tance,” 692 So. 2d at 887, it nullified any lower
court precedent to the contrary. But that does not
mean that those decisions never happened, or that
individuals were not convicted of robbery in those
districts after having used less force than Robin-
son eventually required.

The Robinson Court had no illusion that it was
merely affirming a position that each of Florida’s
district courts had already taken. Indeed, its
holding reversed the First DCA’s affirmance of
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Robinson’s conviction, in which that court
“concluded that the degree of force required to
snatch property from a person, even without
resistance by or injury to the victim, was sufficient
to satisfy Florida’s force element.” Id. at 885
(citing Robinson v. State, 680 So. 2d 481, 484
(Fla. 1st DCA 1996) [21 Fla. L. Weekly D746b]).
Likewise, the Florida Supreme Court in Robinson
acknowledged—and disapproved of—the Fifth
DCA’s holding in Andre v. State that “any degree
of force, including that used to snatch money from
a person’s hand, was force sufficient to satisfy the
force element of robbery.” Id. at 886, 887 n.12
(discussing Andre, 431 So. 2d 1042, 1043 (Fla.
5th DCA 1983)).

So what happens, then, when someone who
was convicted of robbery in the First or Fifth
DCA before Robinson was decided finds himself
before our Court? Let’s consider for this exercise
someone like Keith Alan Andre, the defendant in
Andre v. State. Andre was convicted of robbery in
the Fifth DCA in 1983 after he “snatched money
from the hand of the victim while in the process of
discussing a drug deal.” Andre, 431 So. 2d at
1042. The Fifth DCA affirmed Andre’s convic-
tion, holding that “the definition of robbery does
not limit itself to ‘violence’ but also includes
‘force,’ ” and that “the act of ‘snatching’ the
money from another’s hands is force and that
force will support a robbery conviction.” Id. at
1043 (citation omitted).1

Imagine a Hypothetical Defendant who in
1996 was convicted of robbery for snatching
money in, say, the Fifth DCA or the First DCA (or
any other DCA that had not had the foresight to
predict that the Florida Supreme Court would
eventually rule that Florida robbery does not
include theft or taking by mere snatching). As-
sume for a moment that the Hypothetical Defen-
dant didn’t (or couldn’t) change his record after
Robinson was decided. Fast forward to the present
day, and assume that the Hypothetical Defendant
has committed the federal crime of being a felon
in possession of a firearm, and that he has pled
guilty to the offense. And for good measure,
assume that the Hypothetical Defendant has two
other prior convictions that were undisputedly
serious drug convictions under the Armed Career
Criminal Act (“ACCA”).

There’s little doubt about what would happen
next. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(1), the
district court would sentence the Hypothetical
Defendant to a minimum of 15 years’ imprison-
ment. His third qualifying felony would be the
1983 robbery conviction, where he snatched
money from a victim. The Hypothetical Defen-
dant may argue that his robbery conviction should
not count as a violent felony because he was
convicted for mere snatching, and that does not
rise to the level of force that the Supreme Court
has required. See, e.g., Curtis Johnson v. United
States, 559 U.S. 133, 140 (2010) [22 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S152a (“[T]he phrase ‘physical
force’ means violent force—that is, force capable
of causing physical pain or injury to another
person.” (emphasis in original)). But following
Fritts and our pronouncement that Florida rob-
bery “has never included a theft or taking by mere

snatching,” the Hypothetical Defendant—who
was actually nonetheless convicted pre-Robinson
of Florida robbery for theft or taking by mere
snatching—would incorrectly be saddled with a
“violent felony” under the ACCA. And he would
then be sentenced under the increased penalty
provisions, even though, as a matter of fact, the
facts of his conviction did not actually qualify.

This outcome torpedoes the rationale of the
categorial approach, where we look “not to the
facts of the particular prior case, but rather to the
state statute defining the crime of conviction.”
Gonzales v. Duenas-Alvarez, 549 U.S. 183, 186
(2007) [20 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S47a] (citing
Taylor v. United States, 495 U.S. 575, 599-600
(1990)). Because state statutes can cover a wide
breadth of conduct, our review “must presume
that the conviction rested upon nothing more than
the least of the acts criminalized.” Moncrieffe v.
Holder, 569 U.S. 184, 190-91 (2013) [24 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S160a] (cleaned up). But that ap-
proach fails when our own precedent defining
“the least of the acts criminalized” is at odds with
reality.

Fritts’s blind allegiance to an interpretation of
the Florida robbery statute that was not, as a
matter of fact, uniformly applied before the
Florida Supreme Court issued Robinson creates
the very real possibility that it will keep defen-
dants in prison for extended sentences based
entirely on a legal fiction. That makes no sense.
We live in the real world. And in the real world,
whatever the Florida Supreme Court decided in
1997 that the Florida robbery statute “always”
meant cannot change the fact that, before Robin-
son, at least some of Florida’s intermediate courts
of appeals applied the Florida robbery statute to
cover mere snatchings.

Welch, of course, was convicted in the Fourth
DCA, not the First or Fifth. As we recognized in
his direct appeal, when Welch was convicted, the
Fourth DCA had not yet determined the requisite
level of force needed to sustain a robbery convic-
tion. See United States v. Welch, 683 F.3d 1304,
1311 (11th Cir. 2012) [23 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1141a]. We assumed for the sake of discussion
that that court would have sustained a robbery
conviction that was based on mere snatching. See
id. at 1311-12. That assumption may or may not
have held up under closer examination. But
neither Welch, nor someone who was certainly
convicted for mere snatching, will have the
chance to make the argument. Instead, Fritts’s
revisionist history wrongly ties our hands.
))))))))))))))))))

1Andre and his associates also beat the victim after
the victim tried to get his money back. See Andre, 431
So. 2d at 1042. But those subsequent acts were explic-
itly not the basis for the First DCA’s affirmance of the
robbery conviction, as the court held that “snatching” by
itself was “force [that] will support a robbery convic-
tion.” Id. at 1043.

*        *        *

Criminal law—Habeas corpus—Prisoners—
Clemency—Bureau of Prisons did not err in
excluding the 37-month term of imprisonment
that petitioner served on his first sentence in its
recalculation of his release date after the Presi-

dent commuted the “total sentence of impris-
onment” that petitioner was “now serving” to
a term of 188 months’ imprisonment—Bureau
reasonably understood the phrases “total
sentence of imprisonment” and “now serving”
to refer to only the “terms of imprisonment”
petitioner was then serving, which, at most,
was the life sentence for his second crack-
cocaine conviction and the consecutive 24-
month term of imprisonment—Text of com-
mutation order states that the President com-
muted only the sentence petitioner was serving
when the commutation order issued, and
petitioner was serving only the sentence for his
second conviction at the time of the commuta-
tion order, and not any part of his original
sentence—Application for commutation re-
quests relief for only the sentence imposed for
petitioner’s second conviction—Bureau’s
interpretation of commutation order was both
reasonable and entitled to deference
ORASAMA ANDREWS, Plaintiff-Appellant v. WARDEN,
Defendant-Appellee. 11th Circuit. Case No. 19-12443. May 5,
2020. Appeal from the U.S. District Court for the Southern
District of Georgia (No. 2:17-cv-00105-LGW-BWC).

(Before WILLIAM PRYOR, JILL PRYOR, and
LUCK, Circuit Judges.)

(WILLIAM PRYOR, Circuit Judge.) This appeal
requires us to interpret an executive grant of
clemency that President Barack Obama issued to
Orasama Andrews. In 2003, Andrews was sen-
tenced to a term of 37 months of imprisonment
followed by a term of supervised released for
distributing crack cocaine. After serving the 37-
month term of imprisonment, and while on super-
vised release, Andrews was again charged with
distributing crack cocaine. For that new offense,
the district court sentenced Andrews to imprison-
ment for life. The district court also revoked
Andrews’s supervised release and imposed a
consecutive term of 24 months of imprisonment.
Andrews later applied to President Obama for
clemency for his second crack-cocaine convic-
tion, and the President “commute[d] the total
sentence of imprisonment” that Andrews was
“now serving to a term of 188 months’ imprison-
ment.” The Bureau of Prisons recalculated An-
drews’s release date and determined that he was
then serving both the life term and the 24-month
term, so it apportioned the 188 months between
the two terms accordingly—164 months and 24
months—and credited Andrews for the time
served in prison on these terms. Andrews then
filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, 28
U.S.C. § 2241, and alleged that President Obama
commuted his “total sentence” of imprisonment,
which included the 37 months of imprisonment
that he served as part of his 2003 sentence. An-
drews argued that the Bureau should have cred-
ited him with time spent in prison for the life term,
the 24-month term, and the 37-month term, which
yields an earlier release date than the date the
Bureau calculated. The district court disagreed
and denied the petition. We affirm that denial.

I. BACKGROUND
In 2003, Andrews pleaded guilty to one count

of distributing crack cocaine and received a
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sentence of 37 months of imprisonment, three
years of supervised release, and a $100 penalty.
See 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1), (b)(1)(C) (2000 &
Supp. 2003). While on supervised release, An-
drews returned to drug dealing and was convicted
of one count of distributing five grams or more of
crack cocaine and one count of distributing 50
grams or more of crack cocaine. See 21 U.S.C. §§
841(a)(1), (b)(1)(A)(iii), (b)(1)(B)(iii), 851(a)
(2006 & Supp. 2009). So in 2009, a Georgia
district court sentenced Andrews to concurrent
terms of life imprisonment, ten years of super-
vised release, and a $200 penalty. Because An-
drews’s new conviction violated the conditions of
his supervised release, the district court then
revoked the term of supervised release and im-
posed a term of 24 months of imprisonment to run
consecutively to his life term. That is, the district
court ordered the 24-month term of imprisonment
to commence after completion of the life term.

Andrews later applied to President Obama for
clemency. He completed the standard petition for
commutation created by the Office of the Pardon
Attorney within the Department of Justice. See 28
C.F.R. § 1.1; Fed. Bureau of Prisons, U.S. Dep’t
of Justice, Program Statement No. 1330.15,
Subject: Commutation of Sentence, Petition for
(2001). That petition required the applicant to list
the “Offense(s) For Which Commutation Is
Sought.” Andrews listed and described only the
new crack-cocaine offenses—the offenses he
committed while on supervised release.

President Obama signed an executive grant of
clemency for Andrews and 28 other federal
prisoners on December 19, 2016. For Andrews
and two other prisoners, President Obama re-
duced their sentences of imprisonment to 188
months of imprisonment:

I hereby further commute the total sentence of
imprisonment each of the following named
persons is now serving to a term of 188
months’ imprisonment, leaving intact and in
effect for each named person the term of
supervised release imposed by the court with
all its conditions and all other components of
each respective sentence. I also direct the
Bureau of Prisons to make available to each
named person the Residential Drug Abuse
Program (RDAP), or future equivalent pro-
gram, at an appropriate time before each per-
son’s sentence expires. Further, I condition the
grant of commutation to each of the following
named persons on that person enrolling in the
RDAP program by written agreement, as
evidenced by that person’s signing, within 14
days of that person’s receipt of a certified copy
of this document, a receipt verifying his or her
acceptance of the commutation granted with
all of its conditions, including enrollment in
RDAP.

The commutation order became effective “only
upon” Andrews’s signed acceptance. President
Obama “further direct[ed] . . . the Office of the
Pardon Attorney [to] deliver [a signed] copy to
appropriate personnel in the Bureau of Prisons
Designation and Sentence Computation Center,
who will recalculate [Andrews’s] projected
release date[.]”

The President’s grant of clemency and a
description of it is publicly available on the
website of the office of the United States Pardon
Attorney. See Office of the Pardon Att’y, Commu-
tations Granted by President Obama (2009-
2017), U.S. Dep’t of Justice (last updated July 11,
2018), https://www.justice.gov/pardon/obama-
commutations##DEC192016. The website de-
scribes Andrews’s commuted offenses as the two
counts supporting the second cocaine conviction
and the “[s]upervised release violation.” Id. And
it lists his sentence for these offenses as “Life
Imprisonment” and “24 months’ imprisonment
(consecutive).” Id.

After Andrews signed and accepted the com-
mutation order, the Computation Center used its
standard policies to calculate Andrews’s release
date. When a prisoner is serving multiple sen-
tences, the Computation Center treats, “for ad-
ministrative purposes,” all the sentences “as a
single, aggregate term of imprisonment.” 18
U.S.C. § 3584(c); see also Fed. Bureau of Prisons,
U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Program Statement No.
5880.28, Subject: Sentence Computation Manual
(CCA of 1984), at 11-12 (1999). At the time of the
commutation order, Andrews had two uncom-
pleted terms of imprisonment, the life term and
the 24-month term. So the Computation Center
divided Andrews’s commuted sentence of 188
months of imprisonment between these terms,
reducing the life term to 164 months and retaining
the 24-month term. That calculation yielded a
projected release date of June 16, 2022.

The Computation Center did not credit An-
drews with the 37 months he served on the 2003
sentence before he violated his supervised release.
The Computation Center viewed the 37-month
term and the later 24-month term as separate terms
of imprisonment arising from the same convic-
tion. It concluded that the commutation order did
not reach the 37-month term because Andrews
had completed that term of imprisonment before
President Obama issued the commutation order.

Andrews disagreed with this calculation and
filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, 28
U.S.C. § 2241, to challenge it. He argued that the
Computation Center should have credited him for
the 37 months served on the 2003 sentence. After
holding a hearing, the district court denied the
petition. It explained that, although the 24-month
term of imprisonment was part of the original
2003 sentence, Andrews “was ‘now serving’ a
new and separate term of imprisonment” distinct
from the 37-month term of imprisonment.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW
When reviewing the denial of a petition for a

writ of habeas corpus, we review de novo ques-
tions of law and for clear error factual findings.
Coloma v. Holder, 445 F.3d 1282, 1284 (11th Cir.
2006) [19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C417a]. “We may
affirm for any reason supported by the record.”
United States v. Bane, 948 F.3d 1290, 1294 (11th
Cir. 2020) [28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C766a] (alter-
ation adopted) (internal quotation marks omitted).

III. DISCUSSION
Andrews contends that the Bureau should

include the 37-month term of imprisonment that
he served on his first sentence in its recalculation

of his release date, but we disagree. Based on the
terms of the commutation order, the Constitution,
and Supreme Court precedent, we cannot say that
the Bureau erred in excluding the 37-month term
of imprisonment from its recalculation.

The Constitution grants the Executive the
“Power to grant Reprieves and Pardons for Of-
fences against the United States.” U.S. Const. art.
II § 2, cl. 1. Because the greater power ordinarily
includes the lesser power, the President’s pardon
power includes the authority to commute a sen-
tence to a lesser punishment. See Schick v. Reed,
419 U.S. 256, 265-66 (1974); Biddle v. Perovich,
274 U.S. 480, 486-87 (1927). The Framers vested
this power in the President because it is part and
parcel with the power to execute the laws and
operates as a check on the other two branches. See
United States v. Wilson, 32 U.S. (7 Pet.) 150, 160
(1833) (“A pardon is an act of grace, proceeding
from the power entrusted with the execution of the
laws . . . .”); Ex parte Grossman, 267 U.S. 87,
120-21 (1925) (“Executive clemency exists to
afford relief from undue harshness or evident
mistake in the operation or enforcement of the
criminal law. . . . It is a check entrusted to the
executive for special cases.”); Rachel E. Barkow,
Clemency and Presidential Administration of
Criminal Law, 90 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 802, 829-32,
836-40, 850 (2015). And, as Alexander Hamilton
explained, vesting that power in “a single” indi-
vidual naturally increases “the sense of responsi-
bility” to ensure “mercy” is dispensed
“scrupulous[ly] and cautio[usly].” The Federalist
No. 74, at 385 (Alexander Hamilton) (George W.
Carey & James McClellan eds., 2001).

The Constitution places few restrictions on the
Executive’s pardon power. It empowers the
President to pardon only “Offences against the
United States” and constrains the President from
exercising the power “in Cases of Impeachment.”
U.S. Const. art. II § 2, cl. 1. Otherwise, the Presi-
dent possesses a “broad power” to “ ‘forgive’ the
convicted person in part or entirely, to reduce a
penalty in terms of a specified number of years, or
to alter it with conditions.” Schick, 419 U.S. at
266. So long as the President does not use the
power to pardon to violate another provision of
the Constitution, Congress and the Judiciary have
no power to interfere with its exercise. Id. at 264,
266-67; see also Ohio Adult Parole Auth. v.
Woodard, 523 U.S. 272, 276 (1998) (“[P]ardon
and commutation decisions have not traditionally
been the business of courts; as such, they are
rarely, if ever, appropriate subjects for judicial
review.” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

The Constitution also vests in the Executive
the power to execute the laws. See U.S. Const. art.
II § 1, cl. 1; id. § 3; Youngstown Sheet & Tube Co.
v. Sawyer, 343 U.S. 579, 587 (1952). To be sure,
the Executive acts through subordinates in carry-
ing out the law, whether by prosecuting its viola-
tions or effecting its punishments. For example,
“[a]fter a district court sentences a federal of-
fender, the Attorney General, through the [Bureau
of Prisons], has the responsibility for administer-
ing the sentence.” United States v. Llewlyn, 879
F.3d 1291, 1295 (11th Cir. 2018) [27 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C553a] (emphasis omitted) (internal
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quotation marks omitted). But the responsibility
for effecting these powers and duties lies with the
President. The Federalist No. 70, supra, at 362-
63, 369 (Alexander Hamilton) (“Energy in the
executive is . . . essential to the steady administra-
tion of the laws[.] . . . The ingredients which
constitute energy in the executive [include]
unity[.]”).

In many ways, the pardon power represents
the convergence of some of the Executive’s
various powers. When the President issues a
commutation order for a judicially imposed
sentence, he does not issue an “executive sen-
tence,” Dennis v. Terris, 927 F.3d 955, 959 (6th
Cir. 2019), but instead “reduc[es] the terms of a
sentence already imposed,” Hagelberger v.
United States, 445 F.2d 279, 280 (5th Cir. 1971);
see also Duehay v. Thompson, 223 F. 305, 307
(9th Cir. 1915). “To cut short a sentence by an act
of clemency is an exercise of executive power
which abridges the enforcement of the judgment,
but does not alter it qua judgment.” United States
v. Benz, 282 U.S. 304, 311 (1931). So the commu-
tation order affects only how the sentence will be
carried out, and “carry[ing] the judgment into
effect is an executive function.” Id. In other
words, the Executive commutes the sentence that
it executes. And again, absent a violation of the
Constitution, the commutation order is insulated
from congressional and judicial interference. See
Schick, 419 U.S. at 264, 266-67; Dennis, 927 F.3d
at 959.

The President has long relied on executive
officers to administer pardons. For some time
after the ratification of the Constitution, the Presi-
dent used an informal process for pardons. See
Barkow, supra, at 813. Although individuals
often wrote directly to the President seeking
mercy, the President also relied on the Secretary
of State and Attorney General for review and
advice. See id. at 813-14 & n.65; Margaret
Colgate Love, The Twilight of the Pardon Power,
100 J. Crim. L. & Criminology 1169, 1175-76
(2010). In the late 1800s, the Attorney General
became the main adviser to the President concern-
ing the issuance of pardons when President
Grover Cleveland “transferred authority to issue
pardon warrants to the Justice Department by
executive order.” Love, supra, at 1176-80 & n.25;
see also Joanna M. Huang, Note, Correcting
Mandatory Injustice: Judicial Recommendation
of Executive Clemency, 60 Duke L.J. 131, 143
n.66 (2010). Eventually, the Office of the Pardon
Attorney was created within the Department of
Justice and assumed responsibility for advising
the President on clemency petitions. See Office of
the Pardon Att’y, Frequently Asked Questions,
U.S. Dep’t of Justice (last updated Dec. 14, 2019),
https://www.justice.gov/pardon/frequently-
asked-questions; Love, supra, at 1176-80. And
that office continues to fill that role today. See
Office of the Pardon Att’y, Frequently Asked
Questions, supra; see also 28 C.F.R. §§ 1.1-1.11
(regulating the process of Executive Clemency).

Ordinarily, the President relies on the Depart-
ment of Justice—specifically, the Attorney Gen-
eral and Office of the Pardon Attorney—to ad-
minister the pardon process. See Office of the

Pardon Att’y, Frequently Asked Questions, supra;
see also 28 C.F.R. §§ 1.1-1.11. Indeed, in his
pardon of Andrews, President Obama
“designate[d], direct[ed], and empower[ed] the
Pardon Attorney, as [his] representative, to de-
liver to the Bureau of Prisons a certified copy of
the [commutation order] . . . in order to carry into
effect the terms of th[is] grant[ ] of clemency.”
And he committed the recalculation of Andrews’s
sentence to the Bureau of Prisons, another part of
the Department of Justice. See Fed. Bureau of
Prisons, Program Statement No. 1330.15, supra,
at 5 (“If a petition for commutation of sentence is
granted, institutional staff shall recalculate the
inmate’s sentence in accordance with the terms of
the commutation order.”). That decision makes
sense because the Bureau executes sentences in
the regular course of business on behalf of the
President. See Llewlyn, 879 F.3d at 1295.

The Supreme Court has ruled that deference
should be accorded to an executive agency’s
interpretation of an executive order it is charged
with administering. Udall v. Tallman, 380 U.S. 1,
4, 16-18 (1965); see also Matthew Chou, Agency
Interpretations of Executive Orders, 71 Admin. L.
Rev. 555, 575-89 (2019) (exploring possible
justifications for deferring to executive agency
interpretations of executive orders). The Court
explained that if an agency’s “interpretation is not
unreasonable” and “the language of the order[ ]
bears [its] construction,” “courts must . . . respect
it.” Udall, 380 U.S. at 4, 18. Although deference
to agencies in other contexts engenders debate,
see, e.g., Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S. Ct. 2400, 2425
(2019) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S1091a]
(Gorsuch, J., concurring in the judgment), defer-
ence to an agency’s interpretation is sensible in
this context, where a court cannot even review a
pardon that a recipient has not presented to it, see
Wilson, 32 U.S. at 161-63 (explaining that “where
the benefit [of a pardon] is to be obtained through
the agency of the court, [the pardon] must be
brought regularly to the notice of that tribunal”).

The text of President Obama’s commutation
order governs our review. See Antonin Scalia &
Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpreta-
tion of Legal Texts § 2, at 56 (“The words of a
governing text are of paramount concern, and
what they convey, in their context, is what the text
means.”); cf. Ross v. Blake, 136 S. Ct. 1850, 1856
(2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S205a]. We can
neither enlarge nor cabin the commutation order;
we must evaluate only whether the commutation
order supports the Bureau’s calculation. See
Schick, 419 U.S. at 264, 266-67; Dennis, 927 F.3d
at 959.

Andrews argues that we should give no defer-
ence to the Bureau’s interpretation, but even if we
considered only the plain text of the commutation
order, Andrews would not be entitled to relief.
The text of the commutation order suggests that
President Obama commuted only Andrews’s term
of life imprisonment. And the Bureau’s more
generous interpretation, which is entitled to
deference, is reasonable.

President Obama “commute[d] the total
sentence of imprisonment [Andrews] is now
serving to a term of 188 months’ imprisonment.”

“Now” means “at the present time or moment.”
Now, Merriam-Webster Online (last visited Apr.
27, 2020), https://www.merriam-webster.com/
dictionary/now. So the text states that President
Obama commuted only the sentence Andrews
was serving when the commutation order issued.
And Andrews was serving only one sentence at
the time of the commutation order—his sentence
for his second conviction. He was not serving any
part of his original sentence when President
Obama issued the commutation order. The term of
imprisonment imposed for Andrews’s violation of
supervised release ran consecutively to the term of
life imprisonment for his second conviction. See
Consecutive Sentences, Black’s Law Dictionary
(11th ed. 2019) (“Two or more sentences of jail
time to be served in sequence. . . . Also termed . . .
back-to-back sentences[.]” (emphasis added));
United States Sentencing Guidelines Manual §
7B1.3(f) (Nov. 2009) (“Any term of imprison-
ment imposed upon the revocation of . . . super-
vised release shall be ordered to be served consec-
utively to any sentence of imprisonment that the
defendant is serving . . . .” (emphasis added)).
Andrews had not yet begun to serve the 24-month
term of imprisonment when President Obama
issued the commutation order. That reading
makes even more sense when one considers that
Andrews applied for commutation of only one
sentence: the sentence imposed for his second
conviction. His application mentioned only that
conviction and asked for relief for only that con-
viction.

That President Obama used the phrase “total
sentence” does not necessarily suggest a contrary
reading. Andrews received his commutation as
part of a single order granting commutation to 29
prisoners. The language used to confer commuta-
tion to each prisoner is nearly identical in its
opening language: “I hereby [further] commute
the total sentence of imprisonment each of the
following named persons is now serving to . . . .”
These 29 prisoners were serving a variety of
sentences, some concurrent and some consecu-
tive. See Office of the Pardon Att’y, Commuta-
tions Granted by President Obama, supra. In-
deed, Andrews’s sentence for his second convic-
tion included concurrent terms of life imprison-
ment for his two counts of distributing crack
cocaine. So the use of the word “total” can be
understood to cover prisoners with concurrent
terms of imprisonment.

The Bureau read the commutation order more
generously in favor of Andrews, and its reading is
both reasonable and entitled to deference. See
Udall, 380 U.S. at 4, 16-18. It concluded that
Andrews was “now serving” both the life term of
imprisonment and the consecutive 24-month term
of imprisonment. It understood the commutation
order to operate within the context of the Bureau’s
longstanding policies and statutes. “[F]or admin-
istrative purposes,” the Bureau, by statute and by
policy, treats “[m]ultiple terms of imprisonment
ordered to run consecutively or concurrently . . .
as a single, aggregate term of imprisonment.” 18
U.S.C. § 3584(c); Fed. Bureau of Prisons, Pro-
gram Statement No. 5880.28, supra, at 11-12.
That is, “[a]s a practical matter,” whether a court
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orders multiple sentences to run consecutively or
concurrently “makes no difference” because the
Bureau aggregates the sentences when allotting
credit for time served and calculating release
dates. United States v. Gonzales, 520 U.S. 1, 8
(1997). Because the Bureau treats multiple sen-
tences as if all are being served simultaneously for
administrative purposes, it read President
Obama’s commutation order in the light of these
ordinary practices and divided the 188-month
commutation between the life term and the 24-
month term.

Andrews has no problem with that interpreta-
tion by the Bureau, insofar as it acknowledges that
he was serving his 24-month term at the time of
the commutation order. But Andrews argues that
President Obama commuted his “total sentence of
imprisonment” and that the new 24-month term of
imprisonment was not a new sentence but a con-
tinuation of his original sentence of 37 months of
imprisonment. Andrews relies on precedent
explaining that a term of imprisonment imposed
for violating conditions of supervised release is
not a new sentence but is instead part of the origi-
nal sentence for the underlying crime. See John-
son v. United States, 529 U.S. 694, 700-01 (2000)
(“[P]ostrevocation penalties relate to the original
offense” and are “part of the penalty for the initial
offense . . . . We therefore attribute postrevocation
penalties to the original conviction.”); United
States v. Romines, 204 F.3d 1067, 1069 (11th Cir.
2000); United States v. Woods, 127 F.3d 990, 992
(11th Cir. 1997) (“[R]evocation . . . constitutes a
modification of the terms of the original sentence
. . . .”).

The government does not disagree that a term
of imprisonment imposed for violating the condi-
tions of supervised release is part of the original
sentence. But it contends that the Bureau could
reasonably understand that the term of imprison-
ment imposed for the violation is distinct from the
term of imprisonment imposed for the initial
crime. In short, the new term of imprisonment
does not “resurrect” the original term; it is a
separate component of the sentence. And when
President Obama commuted the “total sentence of
imprisonment” that Andrews was “now serving,”
he commuted only the life and 24-month terms.

“A criminal sentence is a package of sanctions
that the district court utilizes to effectuate its
sentencing intent.” Pepper v. United States, 562
U.S. 476, 507 (2011) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S844a] (quoting United States v. Stinson, 97 F.3d
466, 469 (11th Cir. 1996)). That is, “sentence”
refers to all sanctions imposed for a crime, and a
sentence can have multiple components, includ-
ing imprisonment, supervised release, and fines.
See 18 U.S.C. §§ 3571, 3581, 3583. Federal law,
18 U.S.C. § 3583(e), allows the reimprisonment
of defendants who violate conditions of super-
vised release even when they were initially sen-
tenced to the statutory maximum term. United
States v. Proctor, 127 F.3d 1311, 1313 (11th Cir.
1997). For example, a defendant might initially be
sentenced to the statutory maximum term of 15
years of imprisonment and to a term of two years
of supervised release. Upon completing his 15-
year term of imprisonment, the defendant might

then commit another crime a year into serving his
supervised release. A district court would be well
within its power to order that defendant to serve
the remainder of his supervised release in prison,
which would be a term of imprisonment that is
part of his original sentence but not his original
term of imprisonment. 18 U.S.C. § 3583(e)(3);
Johnson, 529 U.S. at 700-01. That defendant
would then serve 16 years in prison despite that
the statutory maximum for his underlying crime
allowed for only 15 years of imprisonment. The
terms of imprisonment are distinct components of
his sentence. See Johnson, 529 U.S. at 712 (de-
scribing reimprisonment after revocation of
supervised release as a “new prison term”);
United States v. Haymond, 139 S. Ct. 2369, 2374
(2019) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S1079a] (same);
Romines, 204 F.3d at 1069 (describing reimpris-
onment after revocation of supervised release as
an “additional penalty”).

The Bureau reasonably read “sentence of
imprisonment” synonymously with “term of
imprisonment.” As precedent establishes, “sen-
tence” refers to the full panoply of punishments
imposed for a crime, not only the term of impris-
onment. See Pepper, 562 U.S. at 507; United
States v. Gonzalez, 541 F.3d 1250, 1256-57 (11th
Cir. 2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1046a]
(vacating entirety of sentence because the district
court imposed a fine without explaining its basis
for doing so and remanding for a full
resentencing). The commutation order reflects
that understanding when it states that, besides the
imprisonment component, the commutation order
did not affect any “other components of each
respective sentence.” That various statutes gov-
erning the administration of sentences often use
these two phrases interchangeably buttresses that
interpretation. See 18 U.S.C. § 3581 (entitled
“Sentence of Imprisonment” and allowing a
district court to “sentence[ ] [a defendant] to a
term of imprisonment”); id. § 3582 (entitled
“Imposition of a sentence of imprisonment” and
containing the “[f]actors to be considered in
imposing a term of imprisonment” and the con-
straints on “[m]odif[ying] an imposed term of
imprisonment”); id. § 3584 (entitled “Multiple
sentences of imprisonment” and explaining when
“multiple terms of imprisonment” are to run
concurrently or consecutively); cf. id. § 3571
(entitled “Sentence of fine” and allowing a district
court to “sentence[ ] [a defendant] to pay a fine”).

The President, like Congress, is presumed to
know the law and to speak in terminology that
subordinate officials would understand. Cf. White
v. Mercury Marine, 129 F.3d 1428, 1434 (11th
Cir. 1997) (explaining that we ordinarily presume
that Congress “act[s] with the knowledge of
existing law and interpretations when it passes
new legislation”); Scalia & Garner, Reading Law
§ 54, at 323 (“[W]hen a statute uses the very same
terminology as an earlier statute—especially in
the very same field . . .—it is reasonable to believe
that the terminology bears a consistent mean-
ing.”). The Bureau reasonably understood the
phrases “total sentence of imprisonment” and
“now serving” to refer to only the “terms of im-
prisonment” Andrews was then serving. And, at

most, Andrews was serving the life and 24-month
terms of imprisonment.

IV. CONCLUSION
We AFFIRM the denial of Andrews’s peti-

tion.
))))))))))))))))))
(JILL PRYOR, Circuit Judge, concurring spe-
cially.) I concur in the result only.)

*        *        *

Civil rights—Prisoners—Deliberate indiffer-
ence to risks of  COVID-19 infections— 
Injunctions— Stay of preliminary injunction
requiring county and jail official to employ
numerous safety measures to prevent the
spread of COVID-19 and imposing extensive
reporting requirements is warranted where
defendants are likely to succeed on merits of
appeal, defendants have shown they will be
irreparably injured absent a stay, and balance
of harms and public interest weigh in favor of
a stay—Likelihood of success on appeal—
Defendants are likely to succeed on appeal
because district court likely committed errors
of law by treating the increase in COVID-19
infections as proof that defendants deliberately
disregarded an intolerable risk and by treating
the facility’s inability to achieve meaningful
social distancing as evidence of a reckless state
of mind—Defendants are also likely to succeed
on appeal because plaintiffs offered little evi-
dence to suggest that defendants were deliber-
ately indifferent to risk of COVID-19—Fur-
ther, defendants are likely to succeed on appeal
because district court likely erred in holding
that plaintiffs are not required to establish
municipal liability under Monell at the prelim-
inary injunction stage, and in declining to
address the exhaustion requirement of the
Prison Litigation Reform Act—Irreparable
injury—Absent a stay, defendants will lose the
discretion vested in them under state law to
allocate scarce resources among different
county operations necessary to fight the pan-
demic, because district court, through the
injunction, has taken charge of many adminis-
trative decisions typically left to jail officials
ANTHONY SWAIN, et al., Plaintiffs-Appellees, v. DANIEL
JUNIOR, in his official capacity as Director of the Miami-
Dade Corrections and Rehabilitation Department, and
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA, Defendants-Appel-
lants. 11th Circuit. Case No. 20-11622-C. May 5, 2020. On
Appeal from the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of
Florida.

(Before: WILSON, WILLIAM PRYOR and
BRANCH, Circuit Judges.)

BY THE COURT:
No part of our country has escaped the effects

of COVID-19. It is thus not surprising that several
inmates at the Metro West Detention Center
(“Metro West”)—the largest direct-supervision
jail facility in the State of Florida—have tested
positive for the virus. This appeal concerns the
adequacy of the measures implemented by Metro
West to protect its prisoners from the spread of
COVID-19.

On April 5, 2020, seven Metro West inmates
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filed a class action complaint challenging the
conditions of the inmates’ confinement under 42
U.S.C. § 1983 and seeking habeas relief under 28
U.S.C. § 2241 for the named plaintiffs along with
a “medically vulnerable” subclass of inmates.

At issue in this motion for a stay pending
appeal is the preliminary injunction issued by the
United States District Court for the Southern
District of Florida on April 29, 2020, against
defendants Miami-Dade County and Daniel
Junior, the Director of the Miami-Dade Correc-
tions and Rehabilitations Department (“MDCR”).
The injunction requires the defendants to employ
numerous safety measures to prevent the spread of
COVID-19 and imposes extensive reporting
requirements. Pursuant to Rule 8 of the Federal
Rules of Appellate Procedure, we stay the injunc-
tion pending appeal and expedite the appeal.

I.
MDCR, a department of Miami-Dade County,

operates Metro West. When the first case of
COVID-19 in Miami-Dade County was reported
in early March 2020, MDCR began enacting
measures to protect inmates. Those measures
included cancelling inmate visitation; screening
arrestees, inmates, and staff; and advising staff of
use of protective equipment and sanitation prac-
tices. On March 23, 2020, the U.S. Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”) issued
the Interim Guidance on Management of
Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Cor-
rection and Detention Facilities, (the “CDC
Guidance”). MDCR reviewed the CDC Guidance
and updated its practices. As the situation devel-
oped, MDCR continued to implement additional
safety measures, including daily temperature
screenings of all persons entering Metro West,
establishing a “COVID-19 Incident Command
Center and Response Line” to track testing and
identify close contacts with the virus, developing
a social hygiene campaign, and mandating that
staff and inmates wear protective masks at all
times. MDCR also implemented social distancing
efforts, including staggering the dormitory bunks,
requiring inmates to sleep head-to-toe to ensure
further distancing, and instructing staff to encour-
age social distancing between inmates. The dis-
trict court accepted as true that the defendants
implemented these measures for purposes of
issuing the preliminary injunction and did not
resolve any factual disputes in favor of the plain-
tiffs.

On April 5, 2020, the plaintiffs filed a class
action complaint on behalf of “all current and
future persons detained at Metro West during the
course of the COVID-19 pandemic.” Among
other deficiencies, the class action complaint
alleged that the inmates at Metro West did not
have enough soap or towels to wash their hands
properly, waited days for medical attention, were
“denied basic hygienic supplies” like laundry
detergent and cleaning materials, and were forced
to sleep only two feet apart. They sought declara-
tory and injunctive relief for violations of the
Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments pursuant to
42 U.S.C. § 1983 on behalf of the entire class and
immediate release from custody pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 2241 on behalf of the named plaintiffs

and the medically vulnerable subclass.
The district court entered a temporary restrain-

ing order (“TRO”) against the defendants on April
7, two days after the complaint was filed. Consis-
tent with the TRO, the defendants screened all
new arrestees and staff as they entered the facili-
ties, enhanced cleaning and sanitation measures,
made efforts to increase social distancing, issued
masks to all staff and inmates, supplied paper
towels in the restrooms, and quarantined inmates
showing COVID-19 symptoms.

On April 29, following a telephonic eviden-
tiary hearing, the district court entered a prelimi-
nary injunction against the defendants on the
plaintiffs’ § 1983 claim.1 The preliminary injunc-
tion enjoins the defendants to:

• “Effectively communicate to all people

incarcerated at [Metro West], including low-
literacy and non-English speaking people, suffi-
cient information about COVID-19, measures
taken to reduce the risk of transmission, and any
changes in policies or practices to reasonably
ensure that individuals are able to take precautions
to prevent infection”;

• “To the maximum extent possible consider-
ing [Metro West’s] current population level,
provide and enforce adequate spacing of six feet
or more between people incarcerated at Metro
West so that social distancing can be accom-
plished”;

• “Ensure that each incarcerated person re-
ceives, free of charge (1) an individual supply of
soap, preferably liquid as recommended by the
CDC, sufficient to allow frequent hand washing
each day; (2) hand drying machines, or disposable
paper towels as recommended by the CDC, and
individual towels, sufficient for daily use; (3) an
adequate supply of disinfectant products effective
against the virus that causes COVID-19 for daily
cleanings; and (4) an adequate supply of toilet
paper sufficient for daily use”;

• “Provide reasonable access to showers and to
clean laundry”;

• “Require that all MCDR staff wear personal
protective equipment, including masks, and
gloves when physically interacting with any
person, and require that, absent extraordinary or
unusual circumstances, a new pair of gloves is
worn each time MDCR staff touch a different
person; and require all inmate workers who are
cleaning facilities or preparing food to follow this
same protocol”;

• “Require that all MDCR staff regularly wash
their hands with soap and water or use hand
sanitizer containing at least 60% alcohol”;

• “Ensure access to proper testing for anyone
displaying known symptoms of COVID-19 in
accordance with CDC guidelines and for anyone
who has come in contact with an individual who
has tested positive for COVID-19”;

• “Ensure that individuals identified as having
COVID-19 or having been exposed to COVID-19
receive adequate medical care and are properly
quarantined, with continued access to showers,
mental health services, phone calls with family,
and communications with counsel; individuals
identified as having COVID-19 or having been
exposed to COVID-19 shall not be placed in cells

normally used for disciplinary confinement
absent emergency circumstances”;

• “Respond to all emergency (as defined by the
medical community) requests for medical atten-
tion as soon as possible”;

• “Provide sufficient disinfecting supplies
consistent with CDC recommendations in each
housing unit, free of charge, so incarcerated
people can clean high-touch areas or any other
items in the unit between each use”;

• “Waive all medical co-pays for those experi-
encing COVID-19-related symptoms”;

• “Waive all charges for medical grievances
during this health crisis”; and

• “Provide face masks for inmates at Metro
West. The face masks must be replaced at medi-
cally appropriate intervals, and Defendants must
provide inmates with instruction on how to use a
face mask and the reasons for its use.”

The district court observed that the CDC’s

Guidance “formed the basis” of these require-
ments. In order to ensure compliance, it further
ordered the defendants to:

• “Continue providing the Court with updated

information regarding the number of staff and
inmates who have tested positive for, or are being
quarantined because of, COVID-19. These no-
tices shall be filed every three days for the dura-
tion of [the order]; Defendants shall also continue
to provide this information to their state criminal
justice partners”;

• “Provide the [district court] with weekly
reports containing the current population data for
Metro West”; and

• “Submit, within 7 days of [the order], a
proposal outlining steps Defendants will under-
take to ensure additional social distancing safe-
guards in terms of housing inmates and inmate
activity (medical visits, telephones, etc.).”

II.
“In considering whether to stay a preliminary

injunction . . . we examine the district court’s
grant of the preliminary injunction for abuse of
discretion, reviewing de novo any underlying
legal conclusions and for clear error any findings
of fact.” Democratic Exec. Comm. of Fla. v. Lee,
915 F.3d 1312, 1317 (11th Cir. 2019) [27 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C1696a].

III.
A court considering whether to issue a stay

“considers four factors: ‘(1) whether the stay
applicant has made a strong showing that he is
likely to succeed on the merits; (2) whether the
applicant will be irreparably injured absent a stay;
(3) whether issuance of the stay will substantially
injure the other parties interested in the proceed-
ing; and (4) where the public interest lies.’ ” Nken
v. Holder, 556 U.S. 418, 426 (2009) [21 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S788a] (quoting Hilton v.
Braunskill, 481 U.S. 770, 776 (1987)). The first
two factors are “the most critical.” Id. at 434. We
address each factor in turn and conclude that a
stay is warranted.

A. Likelihood of Success on Appeal
In their § 1983 claim, the plaintiffs allege that

the defendants violated the Eighth and Fourteenth
Amendments through their deliberate indifference
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to the risk that COVID-19 poses to the plaintiffs.
The defendants ask us to stay the injunction
pending appeal because they contend that the
plaintiffs failed to establish that they were entitled
to a preliminary injunction. To obtain a prelimi-
nary injunction, the plaintiffs were required to
establish that (1) “a substantial likelihood of
success on the merits” exists; (2) they would
suffer irreparable harm absent an injunction; (3)
“the threatened injury to the[m] . . . outweighs”
any harm the injunction might cause the defen-
dants; and (4) if issued, the injunction would not
be adverse to the public interest. Wreal, LLC v.
Amazon.com, Inc., 840 F.3d 1244, 1247 (11th Cir.
2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C922a] (internal
quotation marks omitted).

The Eighth Amendment to the United States
Constitution provides: “Excessive bail shall not
be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor
cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.” “The
‘cruel and unusual punishments’ standard applies
to the conditions of a prisoner’s confinement.”
Chandler v. Crosby, 379 F.3d 1278, 1288 (11th
Cir. 2004) [17 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C891a]; see
also Mann v. Taser Int’l, Inc., 588 F.3d 1291,
1306 (11th Cir. 2009) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C287a] (explaining that a pre-trial detainee’s
“rights exist under the due process clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment” but “are subject to the
same scrutiny as if they had been brought as
deliberate indifference claims under the Eighth
Amendment”). An Eighth Amendment challenge
to the conditions of confinement has two compo-
nents: one objective and the other subjective. See
Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 846 (1994).

First, to satisfy the “objective component,” the
prisoner must show “an objectively intolerable
risk of harm.” Id. He must show that the chal-
lenged conditions were “extreme” and presented
an “ ‘unreasonable risk of serious damage to his
future health’ or safety.” Chandler, 379 F.3d at
1289 (quoting Helling v. McKinney, 509 U.S. 25,
35 (1993)). The defendants do not contest for
purposes of this motion that the plaintiffs can
satisfy this component.

Second, to satisfy the “subjective component,”
the prisoner must show that the prison official
acted with deliberate indifference. Id. A prison
official acts with deliberate indifference when he
“knows of and disregards an excessive risk to
inmate health or safety.” Farmer, 511 U.S. at 837;
see also Brown v. Johnson, 387 F.3d 1344, 1351
(11th Cir. 2004) [17 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1153a]. A prison “official may escape liability
for known risks ‘if [he] responded reasonably to
the risk, even if the harm ultimately was not
averted.’ ” Chandler, 379 F.3d at 1290 (quoting
Farmer, 511 U.S. at 844). Deliberate indifference
requires the defendant to have a subjective “state
of mind more blameworthy than negligence,”
Farmer, 511 U.S. at 835, closer to criminal reck-
lessness, id. at 839-40.

The defendants are likely to prevail on appeal
because the district court likely committed errors
of law in granting the preliminary injunction. In
conducting its deliberate indifference inquiry, the
district court incorrectly collapsed the subjective
and objective components. The district court

treated the increase in COVID-19 infections as
proof that the defendants deliberately disregarded
an intolerable risk. In doing so, it likely violated
the admonition that resultant harm does not
establish a liable state of mind. See Farmer, 511
U.S. at 844. The district also likely erred by
treating Metro West’s inability to “achieve mean-
ingful social distancing” as evincing a reckless
state of mind. Although the district court ac-
knowledged that social distancing was “impossi-
ble” and “cannot be achieved absent an additional
reduction in Metro West’s population or some
other measure to achieve meaningful social dis-
tancing,” it concluded that this failure made it
likely that the plaintiffs would establish the sub-
jective component of their claim. But the inability
to take a positive action likely does not constitute
“a state of mind more blameworthy than negli-
gence.” Id. at 835.

The defendants are also likely to succeed on
appeal because the plaintiffs offered little evi-
dence to suggest that the defendants were deliber-
ately indifferent. Indeed, the evidence supports
that the defendants are taking the risk of COVID-
19 seriously. For example, the expert report
commissioned by the district court concluded that
the staff at Metro West “should be commended
for their commitment to protect the staff and
inmates in this facility during this COVID-19
pandemic. They are doing their best balancing
social distancing and regulation applicable to the
facility.” According to the expert report, Metro
West appears to have implemented many mea-
sures to curb the spread of the virus. While per-
haps impossible for the defendants to implement
social distancing measures effectively in all
situations at Metro West’s current population
level, the district court cited no evidence to estab-
lish that the defendants subjectively believed the
measures they were taking were inadequate. See
Valentine v. Collier, No. 20-20207, 2020 WL
1934431, at *4 (5th Cir. Apr. 27, 2020)
(“[T]reating inadequate measures as dispositive of
the Defendants’ mental state . . . resembles the
standard for civil negligence, which Farmer
explicitly rejected.”).

The only other evidence the district court
relied on to establish deliberate indifference is that
Metro West’s social-distancing policies are “not
uniformly enforced.” But the district court made
no finding that the defendants are ignoring or
approving the alleged lapses in enforcement of
social-distancing policies, so these lapses in
enforcement do little to establish that the defen-
dants were deliberately indifferent. See Hale v.
Tallapoosa County, 50 F.3d 1579, 1582 (11th Cir.
1995) (requiring plaintiffs establish a causal
connection between the defendant’s conduct and
the constitutional violation to prevail on a
deliberate-indifference claim). Accepting, as the
district court did, that the defendants adopted
extensive safety measures such as increasing
screening, providing protective equipment,
adopting social distancing when possible, quaran-
tining symptomatic inmates, and enhancing
cleaning procedures, the defendants’ actions
likely do not amount to deliberate indifference. So
the district court likely erred in this regard.

B. Irreparable Injury
The defendants have also shown that they will

be irreparably injured absent a stay. See Nken, 556
U.S. at 434. Absent a stay, the defendants will lose
the discretion vested in them under state law to
allocate scarce resources among different county
operations necessary to fight the pandemic.
Through its injunction, the district court has taken
charge of many administrative decisions typically
left to MDCR officials. For example, the injunc-
tion requires that the defendants provide each
Metro West inmate with an individual supply of
soap and disinfectant products. Under pain of
contempt, therefore, MDCR must divert these
high-demand supplies to Metro West, even
though they may be more critical at another
county facility. Similarly, the injunction requires
that the defendants test all inmates with COVID-
19 symptoms and everyone with whom they have
been in contact. To avoid contempt, then, MDCR
must allocate limited testing resources to Metro
West at the expense of other county facilities. All
the while, the district court has tasked itself with
overseeing the steps the defendants are taking to
“ensure additional social distancing safeguards,”
even though it acknowledges that social distanc-
ing is “impossible” at the current inmate popula-
tion level. In short, the district court assumed the
role of “super-warden” that our decisions repeat-
edly condemn. See Pesci v. Budz, 935 F.3d 1159,
1167 (11th Cir. 2019) [28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C181a]; Prison Legal News v. Sec’y, Fla. Dep’t of
Corr., 890 F.3d 954, 965 (11th Cir. 2018) [27 Fla.
L. Weekly Fed. C898c].

As the Supreme Court has cautioned, “it is
‘difficult to imagine an activity in which a State
has a stronger interest, or one that is more intri-
cately bound up with state laws, regulations, and
procedures, than the administration of its pris-
ons.’ ” Woodford v. Ngo, 548 U.S. 81, 94 (2006)
[19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S332a]. In large measure,
the injunction transfers the power to administer
the Metro West facility in the midst of the pan-
demic from public officials to the district court.
The injunction hamstrings MDCR officials with
years of experience running correctional facilities,
and the elected officials they report to, from acting
with dispatch to respond to this unprecedented
pandemic. They cannot respond to the rapidly
evolving circumstances on the ground without
first seeking “a permission slip from the district
court.” Valentine, 2020 WL 1934431, at *5. Such
a prohibition amounts to an irreparable harm.

C. Balance of Harms and Public Interest
The final two factors are the balance of harms

and the public interest. See Nken, 556 U.S. at 426.
Here, both those factors weigh in favor of a stay.
The district court found that because the inmates
“face immediate, irreparable harm from COVID-
19,” their risk of harm outweighs the harm im-
posed on the defendants from complying with the
preliminary injunction. But the question is not
whether COVID-19 presents a danger to the
inmates—we do not dismiss the risk of harm that
COVID-19 poses to everyone, including the
inmates at Metro West. The question is instead
whether the plaintiffs have shown that they will
suffer irreparable injuries that they would not
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otherwise suffer in the absence of an injunction.
See id.; cf. Valentine, 2020 WL 1934431, at *5.
Nothing in the record indicates that the defendants
will abandon the current safety measures absent a
preliminary injunction, especially since the defen-
dants implemented many of those measures
before the plaintiffs even filed the complaint. Nor
do the plaintiffs contend that they will abandon
those measures. For that reason, the balance of
harms weighs in the defendants’ favor.

Finally, where the government is the party
opposing the preliminary injunction, its interest
and harm merge with the public interest. Nken,
556 U.S. at 435. We therefore conclude that the
defendants have satisfied all four requirements for
a stay.

IV.
Before concluding, we address two other

probable errors in the district court’s order that
make the defendants likely to succeed on appeal:
its refusal to address whether the plaintiffs estab-
lished that the county and defendant Junior were
likely liable under Monell and its refusal to ad-
dress the exhaustion requirement of the Prison
Litigation Reform Act (“PLRA”). Both inquiries
are necessary components of the likelihood of
success inquiry a court must undertake in order to
issue a preliminary injunction in the first instance.
See Wreal, 840 F.3d at 1247.

First, the district court likely erred in holding
that the plaintiffs are not required to establish
municipal liability under Monell at the prelimi-
nary injunction stage. A municipality may not be
held liable under § 1983 unless a municipal policy
or custom caused the plaintiffs’ injury. Monell v.
Dep’t of Soc. Servs. of City of New York, 436 U.S.
658, 694 (1978). The policy or custom require-
ment of Monell applies to § 1983 claims for
declaratory or injunctive relief no less than claims
for damages. Los Angeles Cty. v. Humphries, 562
U.S. 29, 31 (2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S733a]. Because a district court cannot award
prospective relief against a municipality unless
the requirements of Monell are satisfied, id.,
plaintiffs must establish that they are likely to
satisfy the requirements of Monell to obtain a
preliminary injunction against a municipality. See
Church v. City of Huntsville, 30 F.3d 1332, 1342
(11th Cir. 1994).

Contrary to Church, the district court ruled
that the plaintiffs did not need to establish a likeli-
hood of success under Monell to obtain a prelimi-
nary injunction, and it did not address whether
they were likely to satisfy Monell. For that reason,
Miami-Dade County is likely to succeed in argu-
ing on appeal that the district court erred by en-
joining it. And because the plaintiffs sued defen-
dant Junior only in his official capacity, which
“generally represent[s] only another way of
pleading an action against an entity of which an
officer is an agent,” Kentucky v. Graham, 473
U.S. 159, 165 (1985) (quoting Monell, 436 U.S.
at 690), they must also satisfy the requirements of
Monell to obtain injunctive relief against him to
the extent they challenge his conduct as an officer
of Miami-Dade County. See Barnett v. MacAr-
thur, No. 18-12238, 2020 WL 1870445, at *3
(11th Cir. Apr. 15, 2020) [28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.

C1052a]; Familias Unidas v. Briscoe, 619 F.2d
391, 403-04 (5th Cir. 1980). The district court did
not address whether the plaintiffs were likely to
satisfy Monell as to defendant Junior, so he is also
likely to succeed in having the injunction against
him vacated on appeal.

Second, the district court also likely erred in
declining to address PLRA exhaustion at the
preliminary injunction stage. In no uncertain
terms, the PLRA provides: “No action shall be
brought with respect to prison conditions under
section 1983 of this title, or any other Federal law,
by a prisoner confined in any jail, prison, or other
correctional facility until such administrative
remedies as are available are exhausted.” 42
U.S.C. § 1997e(a). So long as those remedies are
“available” to the prisoner, a “court may not
excuse a failure to exhaust, even to take [special]
circumstances into account.” Ross v. Blake, 136 S.
Ct. 1850, 1856 (2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S205a]. But the district declined to address ex-
haustion because failure to exhaust is an affirma-
tive defense, and therefore, according to the
district court, is inapplicable at the preliminary
injunction stage. That decision was misguided.

Just because failure to exhaust is an affirma-
tive defense and not a pleading requirement, see
Jones v. Bock, 549 U.S. 199, 216 (2007) [20 Fla.
L. Weekly Fed. S61a], does not render exhaustion
irrelevant to determining whether the plaintiffs are
entitled to a preliminary injunction. “[T]he bur-
dens at the preliminary injunction stage track the
burdens at trial.” Gonzales v. O Centro Espirita
Beneficente Uniao do Vegetal, 546 U.S. 418, 429
(2006) [19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S89a]. Failure to
exhaust is an affirmative defense, so the defen-
dants bear the burden of proving it. See Jones v.
Bock, 549 U.S. at 216. Because the defendants
correctly raised and briefed the defense in a mo-
tion to dismiss and in their opposition to the plain-
tiffs’ motion for a preliminary injunction, the
district court was obliged to decide whether the
defendants were likely to establish the defense.
See Gonzales, 546 U.S. at 428; Chandler, 379
F.3d at 1286 (explaining that exhaustion under
the PLRA is “a threshold matter” that a court
“must address” before reaching the merits).
Although the district court determined that the
existence of the defense turned on disputed ques-
tions of fact, district courts are required to resolve
factual disputes regarding PLRA exhaustion—a
“preliminary issue”—at the outset of a case. See
Bryant v. Rich, 530 F.3d 1368, 1376 (11th Cir.
2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C824a]. The
district court could not determine that the plain-
tiffs were likely to succeed on their § 1983 claim
without, at the very least, finding that the defen-
dants were unlikely to carry their burden of estab-
lishing failure to exhaust. See Gonzales, 546 U.S.
at 428-29. Because it failed to do so, the defen-
dants are likely to succeed on appeal.

V.
In conclusion, the defendants’ motion for a

stay pending appeal and motion to expedite the
appeal are GRANTED. The plaintiffs’ “Opposed
Motion for Oral Argument on Appellants’ Emer-
gency Motion to Stay Injunction Pending Ap-
peal” is DENIED.

The Court DIRECTS the Clerk to expedite
the appeal for merits disposition purposes and to
schedule it for oral argument before the earliest
available panel.

The Court sets the following briefing sched-
ule: the initial brief is due on May 18, 2020, the
response brief is due on May 28, 2020, and the
reply brief is due on June 1, 2020. No motions for
extensions of time will be considered.
))))))))))))))))))

1The district court did not make a finding as to
whether the defendants had complied with the TRO. We
do note, however, that a report commissioned by the
district court and prepared by experts for each party
following a review of the facility and of the TRO
appears to indicate that the defendants were in compli-
ance with the TRO.

The district court also denied the plaintiffs’ re-
quested habeas relief under § 2241 without prejudice.

))))))))))))))))))
(WILSON, Circuit Judge, dissenting from the
order granting the stay.) To persuade us to grant a
stay, the County bore the burden of making “a
strong showing” that it is likely to succeed on the
merits—a “most critical” factor. See Nken v.
Holder, 556 U.S. 418, 433-34 (2009) [21 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S788a]; Democratic Exec. Comm. of
Fla. v. Lee, 915 F.3d 1312, 1317 (11th Cir. 2019)
[27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1696a]. It failed to do
so. I see no strong showing of error as to the
district court’s factual findings or legal conclu-
sions about (1) meaningful social distancing and
population reduction or other measures to achieve
it, or (2) officials’ knowledge and the reasonable-
ness of their response. See Brown v. Plata, 563
U.S. 493, 521, 526-30 (2011) [22 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. S995a] (analyzing the necessity of reducing
overcrowding after other failed remedial mea-
sures in the Eighth Amendment context); Helling
v. McKinney, 509 U.S. 25, 36-37 (1993) (describ-
ing focus on both society’s and prison authorities’
current attitudes and conduct). And I otherwise
fail to see an abuse of discretion here. Therefore,
I dissent from the order granting the stay.

*        *        *

Insurance—Homeowners—Coverage—Exclu-
sions— Property damage caused by insects or
vermin—District court did not err in dismiss-
ing complaint for breach of contract and bad
faith refusal to pay based on insurer’s denial of
coverage for an infestation of brown recluse
spiders in insureds’ home because brown
recluse spiders are both “insects” and “ver-
min” under ordinary meaning of those
terms—District court committed no error by
consulting dictionaries to determine those
legislative facts
MAGGIE J. ROBINSON, CODY ROBINSON, Plaintiffs-
Appellants, v. LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COM-
PANY, LIBERTY INSURANCE COMPANY, LIBERTY
MUTUAL GROUP INC., Defendants-Appellees. 11th Circuit.
Case No. 19-10940. May 11, 2020. Appeal from the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Alabama (No. 4:18-
cv-01509-ACA).

(Before WILLIAM PRYOR and GRANT, Circuit
Judges, and ANTOON,* District Judge.)

(WILLIAM PRYOR, Circuit Judge.) Alabama
law requires courts to construe the terms of an
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insurance policy according to their ordinary
meaning. So unless the context suggests other-
wise, the terms of a policy should not be given a
technical or scientific meaning. And that rule
controls this appeal. Maggie and Cody Robin-
son’s homeowners insurance policy excluded
coverage for property damage caused by insects
or vermin, and Liberty Mutual Insurance Com-
pany cited that exclusion to deny coverage for an
infestation of brown recluse spiders in the
Robinsons’ home. The Robinsons then sued for
breach of contract and bad faith under Alabama
law. Because brown recluse spiders are both
“insects” and “vermin” under the ordinary mean-
ing of those terms and the district court committed
no error by consulting dictionaries to determine
those legislative facts, Fed. R. Evid. 201(a), we
affirm the dismissal of the Robinsons’ complaint
for failure to state a claim, Fed. R. Civ. P.
12(b)(6).

I. BACKGROUND
After the Robinsons moved into their home,

they discovered an infestation of the highly ven-
omous brown recluse spider. Following an at-
tempt to eradicate the infestation, the Robinsons
obtained a homeowners policy from Liberty
Mutual. That policy “insure[d] against risk of
direct loss to property . . . only if that loss is a
physical loss to property.” But the policy ex-
cluded from coverage any loss “[c]aused by . . .
[b]irds, vermin, rodents, or insects.” Liberty
Mutual cited that exclusion in its letter denying
coverage for a claim the Robinsons filed for
damage to their home after further attempts to
eradicate the infestation failed.

The Robinsons sued Liberty Mutual for
breach of contract and for bad faith refusal to pay.
In their complaint, the Robinsons alleged that
brown recluse spiders infested every facet of their
home, could not be eradicated, posed a deadly
risk, and presented “a dangerous and irreparable
condition” that rendered their home “unsafe for
occupancy.” They alleged that their insurance
policy covered the loss because brown recluse
spiders are neither insects nor vermin within the
meaning of the exclusion.

The district court dismissed the Robinsons’
complaint. It ruled that brown recluse spiders are
both insects and vermin within the meaning of the
policy. So the district court concluded that the
Robinsons’ complaint failed as a matter of law.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW
We review de novo a dismissal for failure to

state a claim. Ga. State Conference of the NAACP
v. City of LaGrange, 940 F.3d 627, 631 (11th Cir.
2019) [28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C432a]. We accept
“the allegations in the complaint as true and
constru[e] them in the light most favorable to the
plaintiff.” Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).

III. DISCUSSION
The Robinsons argue that the district court

erred in dismissing their complaint because brown
recluse spiders are neither insects nor vermin. But
we disagree. Based on the ordinary meaning of
those terms, brown recluse spiders are both insects
and vermin.

“In Alabama, the interpretation of a contract,

including an insurance contract, is a question of
law reviewed de novo.” Twin City Fire Ins. Co. v.
Ohio Cas. Ins. Co., 480 F.3d 1254, 1258 (11th
Cir. 2007) [20 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C417a].
Alabama courts “enforce the insurance policy as
written if the terms are unambiguous.” Safeway
Ins. Co. of Ala., Inc. v. Herrera, 912 So. 2d 1140,
1143 (Ala. 2005). Alabama courts give the terms
the meaning that “a reasonably prudent person
applying for insurance would have understood the
term[s] to mean.” Id. at 1144 (alteration adopted)
(internal quotation marks omitted). That is, Ala-
bama courts ordinarily do “not define words . . .
based on technical or legal terms.” Id. at 1143; see
also Liggans R.V. Ctr. v. John Deere Ins. Co., 575
So. 2d 567, 571 (Ala. 1991); Antonin Scalia &
Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpreta-
tion of Legal Texts § 6, at 69 (2012) (“Words are
to be understood in their ordinary, everyday
meanings—unless the context indicates that they
bear a technical sense.”). To be sure, when con-
struing “exceptions to coverage,” Alabama courts
construe them “as narrowly as possible in order to
provide maximum coverage.” Johnson v. Allstate
Ins. Co., 505 So. 2d 362, 365 (Ala. 1987); see also
Porterfield v. Audubon Indem. Co., 856 So. 2d
789, 806 (Ala. 2002). But those courts remain
careful not “to rewrite policies to provide cover-
age not intended by the parties.” Johnson, 505 So.
2d at 365.

Spiders are “insects” under the ordinary mean-
ing of that term. All dictionaries we have re-
viewed, both modern and old, list spiders as an
example of an “insect.” See, e.g., Insect, Oxford
English Dictionary Online (last visited May 9,
2020), https://www.oed.com/view/Entry/96686;
Insect (in American English), Collins Dictionary
Online (last visited May 9, 2020),
h t t p s : / / w w w . c o l l i n s d i c t i o n a r y
.com/us/dictionary/english/insect; Insect,
Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary (11th
ed. 2007); Insect, Webster’s Third New Interna-
tional Dictionary (1993); Insect, Webster’s New
International Dictionary (2d ed. 1961); Insect,
Webster’s New International Dictionary (1st ed.
1920). And a “dictionary definition” is “an asser-
tion of th[e] very meaning that an ordinary person
would give a particular word” because it is “the
result of an examination into the interpretation
that ordinary people would give the word.” Car-
pet Installation & Supplies of Glenco v. Alfa Mut.
Ins. Co., 628 So. 2d 560, 562 (Ala. 1993); see also
Scalia & Garner, Reading Law app. A, at 418 (“A
dictionary definition states the core meanings of
a term.”).

The Robinsons maintain that, scientifically
speaking, spiders are arachnids, not insects. And
even the dictionaries acknowledge this distinction
by either specifying that spiders are insects in
popular usage or stressing that spiders are “tech-
nically” not “insects.” See, e.g., Insect, Oxford
English Dictionary Online, supra (“[I]n popular
use comprising, besides the animals scientifically
so called . . . , many other arthropods, [such] as
spiders . . . .”); Insect, Merriam-Webster’s Colle-
giate Dictionary, supra (“[A]ny of numerous
small invertebrate animals (as spiders or centi-
pedes) that are more or less obviously seg-

mented—not used technically.”). But that techni-
cal or scientific meaning does not control our
interpretation of the Robinsons’ policy. See
Safeway, 912 So. 2d at 1143-44; Liggans, 575 So.
2d at 571; Scalia & Garner, Reading Law § 6, at
69.

“Few zoological terms have been more loosely
used both by scientific and popular writers” than
the term “insect.” Insect, 14 The Encyclopædia
Britannica (11th ed. 1911). The term “insect”
“was introduced to English readers in a translation
(1601) of Pliny’s Natural History by Philemon
Holland, who defined ‘insects’ as little vermine or
smal[l] creatures which have . . . a cut or division
betwe[en] their heads and bodies.” Id. (internal
quotation marks omitted). In the mid-1700s,
Carolus Linnæus created the basis for the modern
classification system, with six classes of animals,
including Insecta. See A.J. Cain, Taxonomy,
Encyclopædia Britannica (last updated Jan. 17,
2020), https://www.britannica.com /sci-
ence/taxonomy. Linnæus’s class “Insecta” in-
cluded all creatures in the modern-day classes
Arachnida and Insecta. See E. Ray Lankester, The
Structure and Classification of the Arthropoda,
47 Q.J. Microscopical Sci. 523, 524 n.1 (1904).
Only “by causes which [are] not easy to trace” did
“the word ‘Insect’ . . . become limited” to exclude
certain creatures, like spiders. Id. That change in
meaning was largely due to Jean-Baptiste
Lamarck in the early 1800s, who created the
separate classes Arachnida and Crustacea and
“assign[ed] . . . them equal rank with the remain-
ing Insecta of Linnæus.” Id.; Cain, supra. So even
the scientific community earlier afforded the term
“insect” a broad definition that included spiders.

Today, we accept that the scientific commu-
nity distinguishes between arachnids and insects,
but Alabama law cautions against using technical
or scientific definitions to interpret the terms of an
insurance contract. See Safeway, 912 So. 2d at
1143-44; Liggans, 575 So. 2d at 571. And dictio-
nary definitions of “insect” establish that an
ordinary person would still understand the term
“insect” to include spiders. That the average
person has yet to adopt the scientific vernacular is
not unexpected; after all, not every adult recalls
the basics of their childhood science lessons as
well as they should. Cf. Nix v. Hedden, 149 U.S.
304, 307 (1893) (concluding a tomato was a
vegetable despite its botanical classification as a
fruit because it is a vegetable “in the common
language of the people”).

Brown recluse spiders are also “vermin” under
the ordinary meaning of that term. Vermin include
“small common harmful or objectionable animals
(as lice or fleas) that are difficult to control.”
Vermin, Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictio-
nary, supra. The term refers to “noxious or objec-
tionable” creatures and includes “creeping or
wingless insects (and other minute animals) of a
loathsome or offensive appearance or character,
esp. those which infest.” Vermin, Oxford English
Dictionary Online (last visited May 9, 2020),
https://www.oed.com/view/ Entry/222579; see
also Vermin, American Heritage Dictionary of the
English Language Online (last visited May 9,
2020), https://www.ahdictionary.com/word/
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search.html?q=vermin; Vermin, Webster’s Third
New International Dictionary, supra.

The allegations of the Robinsons’ complaint
alone establish that brown recluse spiders are
vermin. The Robinsons alleged that their house
“was infested with a large colony of highly ven-
omous brown recluse spiders” that have “become
so pervasive that a clear and present danger ex-
ists.” Despite their efforts, they have been unable
to eradicate the spiders, nor can they find a pest
control company willing to guarantee that the
infestation can ever be eradicated. We must accept
those allegations as true, Ga. State Conference,
940 F.3d at 631, and those allegations make clear
that brown recluse spiders are “small common
harmful or objectionable animals . . . that are
difficult to control,” Vermin, Merriam-Webster’s
Collegiate Dictionary, supra, “injurious to
health,” Vermin, American Heritage Dictionary of
the English Language Online, supra, and capable
of infesting, Vermin, Oxford English Dictionary
Online, supra.

The few decisions that have refused to apply
an exclusion from coverage for vermin are
inapposite. Almost all these decisions involved
mammals for which the definition of “vermin”
was ambiguous. See Marcelle v. S. Fid. Ins. Co.,
954 F. Supp. 2d 429, 436-37 (E.D. La. 2013)
(bats); Jones v. Am. Econ. Ins. Co., 672 S.W.2d
879, 880 (Tex. App. 1984) (squirrels); Umanoff v.
Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins., 442 N.Y.S.2d 892,
893-94 (Civ. Ct. 1981) (racoons); see also Sincoff
v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 183 N.E.2d 899, 901
(N.Y. 1962) (carpet beetles). Although “vermin”
might be ambiguous as to other animals, we
conclude that an ordinary person would under-
stand “vermin,” in this context, to include brown
recluse spiders. See Gregory v. Nationwide Mut.
Ins. Co., 611 F. App’x 410, 411-12 (9th Cir.
2015) (concluding that the term “vermin” in an
exclusion from coverage in an insurance policy
included mites, an arachnid); Christ Episcopal
Church of Bastrop v. Church Ins. Co., 731 So. 2d
1071, 1075 (La. Ct. App. 1999) (concluding that
the term “vermin” in an insurance policy is unam-
biguous as to mice and rats); N. British & Mercan-
tile Ins. Co. v. Mercer, 84 S.E.2d 570, 571 (Ga.
1954) (concluding that the term “vermin” in an
insurance policy, although unambiguous as to rats
and mice, plainly did not include squirrels); Scalia
& Garner, Reading Law at 32 (“A word or phrase
is ambiguous when the question is which of two
or more meanings applies . . . .”).

We also reject the Robinsons’ argument that
the district court could not take “judicial notice”
of dictionary definitions without first affording
them a hearing. See Fed. R. Evid. 201. Rule 201
permits courts to take notice of “an adjudicative
fact” that is “generally known” and “whose accu-
racy cannot reasonably be questioned,” so long as
it affords the parties an opportunity to be heard on
the propriety of doing so if requested. Fed. R.
Evid. 201(a)-(b), (e). But Rule 201 “governs
judicial notice of an adjudicative fact only, not a
legislative fact.” Fed. R. Evid. 201(a).
“[A]djudicative facts are those developed in a
particular case,” while “[l]egislative facts are
established truths, facts or pronouncements that

do not change from case to case but apply univer-
sally.” W. Ala. Women’s Ctr. v. Williamson, 900
F.3d 1310, 1316 (11th Cir. 2018) [27 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C1240a] (internal quotation marks
omitted); see also Fed. R. Evid. 201(a) advisory
committee’s note to 1972 proposed rule
(“Adjudicative facts are simply the facts of the
particular case.”). Dictionary definitions establish
legislative facts when used to answer a question of
law, such as how to interpret contractual terms.
See Fed. R. Evid. 201(a) advisory committee’s
note to 1972 proposed rule (“Legislative facts . . .
are those which have relevance to legal reasoning
and the lawmaking process . . . in the formulation
of a legal principle or ruling by a judge or court
. . . .”).

IV. CONCLUSION
We AFFIRM the dismissal of the Robinsons’

complaint.
))))))))))))))))))

* Honorable John Antoon II, United States District
Judge for the Middle District of Florida, sitting by
designation.

*        *        *

Criminal law—Search and seizure — Resi-
dence—Warrant—Emergency aid excep-
tion—Where  police officers, responding to
multiple 911 calls of gunshots fired, kicked
down the door to defendant’s home after
mistaking a dog’s whimper for a person in
distress, it was reasonable for officers to enter
the home without a warrant—Given the total-
ity of the circumstances, it was not objectively
unreasonable for an officer to mistake the
sounds of a dog whimpering, through the wall
of a home, for a person in distress—Possibility
of a gunshot victim lying prostrate in the dwell-
ing created an exigency necessitating immedi-
ate search—Close temporal proximity between
gunfire, 911 calls, and police response and
totality of scene on arrival provided police
officers indicia of an urgent, ongoing emer-
gency—Sentencing—Federal guidelines—
Offense level—No error in imposing offense
level of 22 for possession of semiautomatic
firearm that is capable of accepting a large
capacity magazine, because even if gun was
unloaded at time of offense, the firearm was
able to accept a large capacity magazine—
Criminals cannot escape heightened base level
by keeping their magazines next to their guns
rather than attached to the guns, or by keeping
the magazines empty—No error in imposing
four-level enhancement for possession of a rifle
that had an obliterated serial number where,
contrary to defendant’s argument, direct
evidence was presented at sentencing hearing
that rifle mentioned in indictment was the rifle
inspected by sentencing court, and defendant
offered nothing to bring it into question
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff-Appellee, v.
WILLIE EVANS, Defendant-Appellant. 11th Circuit. Case
No. 17-15323. May 6, 2020. Appeal from the U.S. District
Court for the Southern District of Florida (No. 1:17-cr-20392-
JEM-1).

(Before ROSENBAUM, GRANT, and HULL,

Circuit Judges.)

(GRANT, Circuit Judge.) Responding to 911 calls
of shots fired, police officers kicked down the
door to Willie Evans’s home after they heard
whimpering from inside. Warrantless searches of
private dwellings are presumptive violations of
the Fourth Amendment, but the government says
the search was justified under what’s known as
the emergency aid exception. Although Evans
was already in custody and posed no threat, a
police officer heard footsteps and a whimpering
noise coming from inside Evans’s locked home—
prompting officers to breach the door. As police
swept the home for an injured person, they found
several firearms that Evans, a convicted felon,
was prohibited from possessing. And the whim-
pering noise? That apparently came from one of
Evans’s dogs—unharmed, we happily note.

The major question presented on appeal is
whether it was reasonable for officers, mistaking
a dog’s whimper for a person in distress, to enter
Evans’s home without a warrant. Given the total-
ity of the circumstances, we say yes. We also
reject two sentencing challenges brought by
Evans and therefore affirm his felon-in-posses-
sion conviction and 70-month term of imprison-
ment.

I.
On the morning of May 30, 2017, officers of

the Homestead Police Department received
multiple 911 calls reporting gunshots in the
Keystone Village area of Homestead, Florida.
Within minutes, officers arrived at the home of
Willie Evans. Once there, they encountered Ev-
ans’s girlfriend, who was outside in tears with two
small children. She told the officers that she and
Evans had just had an argument, and that he had
threatened to shoot himself. As they were arguing,
she said, Evans stormed out of the house; she
heard multiple gunshots.

Between the gunfire and the arrival of the
police, Evans went back into his house. At first
the officers could not get him to leave the house,
but he came out after urging from his girlfriend.
He locked the door behind him. At that point,
police handcuffed him and placed him in a squad
car. One of the officers spotted four spent shell
casings in the driveway. Another officer, posi-
tioned near a window, heard noises that sounded
“a little bit like footsteps” and “like somebody
crying or whimpering coming from inside the
house.” The officer advised over his radio that he
heard a crying noise coming from inside the
house.

Concerned by the sounds, the officers decided
to enter the house to “make sure there’s nobody
hurt, no other people with guns.” When Evans
said he did not have a key to his house, the police
kicked in the door. While inside, officers noticed
two firearms inside a closet. They also encoun-
tered “a couple of dogs”—the apparent source of
the whimpering noise. According to police, the
safety sweep lasted approximately four or five
minutes. The officers left the house and stayed
outside while they wrote up a search warrant.
Several hours later, after obtaining a warrant and
then conducting a more thorough search, officers
recovered a rifle, three handguns, and ammuni-
tion. On June 9, 2017, a grand jury indicted Evans
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for being a felon in possession of all four firearms
and various types of ammunition.

Evans moved to suppress all of the evidence
obtained in the initial search, including any obser-
vations that formed the basis of the later search
warrant (and thus anything found when that
warrant was executed). A magistrate judge recom-
mended that Evans’s motion be denied. Accord-
ing to the magistrate, the initial sweep of the
house fell within the exigent circumstances ex-
ception to the general requirement that police
obtain a warrant before searching a private resi-
dence. The district court adopted this recommen-
dation, and Evans pleaded guilty to the felon-in-
possession violation. See 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1).
He preserved the right to appeal the denial of his
suppression motion. The parties dispute whether
he also preserved his sentencing arguments, but
that turns out not to matter because the result is the
same under any standard of review.

II.
On appeal of a district court’s ruling on a

motion to suppress, we review the court’s rulings
of law de novo and its findings of fact for clear
error. See United States v. Spoerke, 568 F.3d
1236, 1244 (11th Cir. 2009) [21 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C1823a]. We review the district court’s
application of the Sentencing Guidelines de novo
and its findings of fact for clear error. See United
States v. Smith, 480 F.3d 1277, 1278 (11th Cir.
2007) [20 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C410a].

III.
Evans contends that the district court should

have suppressed anything the police officers
learned or saw during their warrantless search of
his home. Not so. He also levels two challenges to
his Guidelines sentence, one textual and the other
evidentiary. Both fail.

A.
The Fourth Amendment requires that searches

be reasonable. See U.S. Const. amend. IV. And
warrantless searches and seizures inside a home
are presumptively unreasonable. Brigham City v.
Stuart, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006) [19 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S199a]. But that presumption can be
overcome if the “exigencies of the situation make
the needs of law enforcement so compelling that
the warrantless search is objectively reasonable
under the Fourth Amendment.” Mincey v. Ari-
zona, 437 U.S. 385, 394 (1978) (quotation marks
and citation omitted).

The “most urgent” of the exigencies is the
emergency aid exception. United States v.
Timmann, 741 F.3d 1170, 1178 (11th Cir. 2013)
[24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C836a]. Under that
exception, “officers may enter a home without a
warrant to render emergency assistance to an
injured occupant or to protect an occupant from
imminent injury.” Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S.
452, 460 (2011) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S979a]
(quoting Brigham City, 547 U.S. at 403). The
burden of proving this exception lies with the
government. See United States v. Holloway, 290
F.3d 1331, 1337 (11th Cir. 2002) [15 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C566a]. The specific test is not
whether the officer actually believed that there
was an emergency inside the house, but “whether
there was ‘an objectively reasonable basis for
believing’ that medical assistance was needed, or

persons were in danger.” Michigan v. Fisher, 558
U.S. 45, 49 (2009) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S28a]
(quoting Brigham City, 547 U.S. at 406).

Evans says that it is “objectively unreasonable
for a trained police officer to hear a dog whimper-
ing and claim he cannot tell the difference be-
tween a whimpering dog and a human in pain.”
We disagree. Even under ideal conditions, we do
not find it implausible that a reasonable person
might sometimes mistake the sound of an animal
for that of a human.

But these were not ideal conditions. Consider
the scenario: Officers responded to multiple 911
calls reporting gunshots. Arriving just minutes
later, they were informed by Evans’s tearful
girlfriend, who herself had just come out of the
home, that she and Evans had been in an argument
and that he had threatened to kill himself. And
Evans—the suspected gunman—was not a model
of candor and cooperation. He initially refused to
leave his house, giving police reason to question
whether there was someone else inside with him.
And when he finally did exit, locking the door
behind him, he tried to mislead the officers with
the (obviously wrong) suggestion that the re-
ported gunshots might have been children playing
with fireworks; that scenario was contradicted
both by Evans’s girlfriend and by the spent shell
casings outside the house. Given the totality of
these circumstances, it was not objectively unrea-
sonable for an officer to mistake the sounds of a
dog whimpering—through the wall of a home—
for a person in distress.

Our precedents do not require police to “know
the unknowable on pain of suppression.”
Montanez v. Carvajal, 889 F.3d 1202, 1210 (11th
Cir. 2018) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C877b]. As the
Supreme Court said in Fisher, officers “do not
need ironclad proof of a likely serious, life-threat-
ening injury to invoke the emergency aid excep-
tion.” 558 U.S. at 49 (quotation marks omitted).
Cf. Holloway, 290 F.3d at 1340 (“People could
well die in emergencies if police tried to act with
the calm deliberation associated with the judicial
process.” (quoting Wayne v. United States, 318
F.2d 205, 212 (D.C. Cir. 1963))). Instead, we look
to the entirety of the circumstances to see whether
a reasonable officer, confronted with those cir-
cumstances, could have objectively believed that
an immediate search was necessary to safeguard
potential victims.

Our opinion in Holloway is instructive. There,
officers responded to 911 calls reporting gunfire
and arguing, encountered a couple on the front
porch of their house, and saw a shotgun shell on a
nearby picnic table. See 290 F.3d at 1332-33.
They had little else to go on. They did not see any
person in dire need of aid, and unlike this case,
they did not hear a whimper or a cry coming from
inside the house. Yet we had no trouble conclud-
ing that the circumstances justified an immediate
warrantless search. Today we reach the same
conclusion as we heed Holloway’s instruction that
the “possibility of a gunshot victim lying prostrate
in the dwelling created an exigency necessitating
immediate search.” Id. at 1338.

Moreover, the close temporal proximity
between gunfire and police response make this
case different than Timmann, where we said that

the emergency aid exception did not apply to a
routine service call regarding a bullet hole that
officers figured out had been made at least 39
hours earlier. See 741 F.3d at 1173-74, 80. Be-
cause the officers had no other evidence of a fight
or injury—certainly not a recent one—it was not
reasonable for them to believe that someone
needed immediate aid, and their warrantless entry
was impermissible. Id. at 1181. Here, by contrast,
the recency of the gunfire, the 911 calls, and the
totality of the scene on arrival provided Home-
stead police officers “indicia of an urgent, ongo-
ing emergency” that were not present in
Timmann. Id. at 1180.

*    *    *
Evans’s girlfriend now insists she told officers

there were only dogs in the home, and that they
were the source of the whimpering noise. Unfor-
tunately for Evans, that does not move the needle.
To begin, the magistrate judge already found
inconsistencies in the testimony of Evans’s girl-
friend and concluded that she was not a credible
witness. That kind of credibility determination is
within the trial court’s purview, and we “defer to
the magistrate judge’s determinations unless his
understanding of the facts appears to be unbeliev-
able.” United States v. Ramirez-Chilel, 289 F.3d
744, 749 (11th Cir. 2002) [15 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C491a] (quotation marks and citation omitted).
Evans presents no good reason—nor do we find
one in the record—to doubt the magistrate judge’s
credibility determination.

What’s more, even if we now found Evans’s
girlfriend trustworthy, our own belief would not
require a finding that it was unreasonable for
police themselves not to believe her: police
should not have to accept the declarations of
interested witnesses as final and conclusive. We
will not put police in the position of avoiding an
exigent search when the evidence supports it,
simply because judges may find the contrary
assertion of an on-the-scene witness more com-
pelling when they read it years after the fact.

Given all this, we cannot blame the officers for
disregarding the claims of Evans’s girlfriend. We
thus affirm the district court’s denial of Evans’s
motion to suppress.

B.
Evans also challenges two sentencing find-

ings. First, he received a base offense level of 22
because he possessed a “semiautomatic firearm
that is capable of accepting a large capacity maga-
zine.” U.S. Sentencing Guidelines §
2K2.1(a)(3)(A)(i) (2016). Evans says, however,
that his offense level is incorrect because an
unloaded gun cannot qualify under the possession
guideline used to sentence him. We reject his
invitation to grammatical innovation. Second,
Evans received a four-level enhancement for
possessing a rifle that had an “obliterated serial
number,” but he says that no evidence supports
this enhancement. U.S.S.G. § 2K2.1(b)(4)(B). On
this claim, we reject his invitation to ignore the
record. And, as we noted at the outset, the parties
dispute whether this is the first time that Evans has
argued these points. We need not sort out that
dispute, though, because Evans loses either way.

1.
Police found a semiautomatic pistol (Beretta
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9mm) in Evans’s home. They also found a high-
capacity magazine capable of accepting 17 rounds
of ammunition. The Sentencing Guidelines
impose a base level of 22 for offenses involving a
“semiautomatic firearm that is capable of accept-
ing a large capacity magazine.” U.S.S.G. §
2K2.1(a)(3)(A)(i). The Guidelines commentary
explains what that means:

A semiautomatic firearm that has the ability to
fire many rounds without reloading because at
the time of the offense

(A) the firearm had attached to it a maga-
zine or similar device that could accept
more than 15 rounds of ammunition; or

(B) a magazine or similar device that
could accept more than 15 rounds of am-
munition was in close proximity to the
firearm.

U.S.S.G. § 2K2.1 cmt. n.2.1

Evans argues that his pistol was not “capable
of accepting a large capacity magazine” under the
Guidelines’ definition because the magazine was
unloaded and not attached to the gun at the time of
his offense. In other words, he says that because
the magazine found near his gun was unloaded,
the gun itself was not—at that time—capable of
accepting a large magazine.

Stating his argument in plain English is almost
enough to dismiss it. Still, we offer a few of the
reasons that it is an incorrect interpretation of the
text. To begin, the words of the guide-
line—“capable of accepting a large capacity
magazine”—are words of possibility, not actual-
ity. Capable means “having the ability, fitness, or
quality necessary to do or achieve a specified
thing.” New Oxford American Dictionary (3d ed.
2010). See also Webster’s New World College
Dictionary (5th ed. 2018) (“susceptible of; admit-
ting of; open to”). Loaded or not, Evans’s firearm
was able to accept a large capacity magazine.

Nothing in the Guidelines commentary de-
tracts from the obvious conclusion that Evans’s
firearm qualifies under the guideline. The phrase
“at the time of the offense” modifies the subparts
that follow it, and not, as Evans suggests, the
preceding phrase “the ability to fire many rounds
without reloading.” We know this is true for (at
least) three reasons. First, it is commonly under-
stood that “[m]odifiers should come, if possible,
next to the words they modify.” William Strunk
Jr. & E.B. White, The Elements of Style, 30 (50th
Anniversary ed. 2009). In somewhat plainer
terms, there is no grammatical reason that “at the
time of the offense” would apply to anything
other than the two subparts that immediately
follow it. Second, under either subpart, the height-
ened base level applies if a qualifying magazine
(i.e., a magazine “attached to” or “in close prox-
imity to” the firearm) “could accept” more than 15
rounds. U.S.S.G. § 2K2.1 cmt. n.2 (emphasis
added). Again, a word of possibility. By the terms
of the guideline, even an empty magazine would
be enough if it could hold fifteen or more rounds,
but under Evans’s interpretation a firearm with an
empty magazine attached or nearby could never
qualify. And third, under subpart B, the guideline
applies based on the mere proximity of a high
capacity magazine—regardless of whether any
magazine is actually attached to the firearm.

All these points refute the suggestion that the
heightened base level applies only to firearms that
could actually fire more than 15 rounds at the
precise moment they are discovered by police.
Criminals cannot escape the heightened base level
by keeping their magazines next to their guns
rather than attached to their guns, nor by keeping
their magazines empty. See United States v.
Davis, 668 F.3d 576, 579 (8th Cir. 2012) (“[T]he
phrase, ‘because at the time of the offense,’ comes
immediately before the condition that the large
capacity magazine must be either (A) attached, or
(B) in close proximity to, the semiautomatic
firearm. This strongly suggests that the phrase
was not intended to modify an earlier condition—
that the firearm ‘has the ability to fire many
rounds without reloading.’ ”). We have no doubt
that this guideline applies to Evans.

2.
Before sentencing, Evans challenged the

assertion in the Presentence Investigation Report
(PSR) that the rifle seized from his home had an
obliterated serial number. At the sentencing
hearing, the government produced a Ruger rifle,
purportedly the one found in Evans’s home and
referenced in the PSR. After examining the rifle,
the sentencing judge determined that “the serial
number has been erased.”

On appeal, Evans argues for the first time that
he “never admitted to possessing a Ruger rifle.
Nor did the government provide any testimony
that a Ruger rifle was involved in the offense.”
Essentially, his argument rests on three facts: (1)
the indictment mentions only a “Muzzelite” rifle,
not a Ruger rifle;2 (2) neither the PSR nor the
factual proffer mentioned a “Ruger” rifle; and (3)
there is no evidence other than the good word of
the government’s attorney that the rifle presented
at sentencing was the rifle seized from Evans’s
home.

The transcript of the sentencing hearing tells a
different story. Detective Raul Cabrera gave
sworn testimony at the sentencing hearing that he
located the Ruger rifle presented at sentencing and
impounded it himself.3 Cabrera’s testimony is
direct evidence that the rifle mentioned in the
indictment was the rifle inspected by the sentenc-
ing court. A sentencing court’s findings “may be
based on evidence heard during trial, facts admit-
ted by a defendant’s plea of guilty, undisputed
statements in the presentence report, or evidence
presented at the sentencing hearing.” United
States v. Wilson, 884 F.2d 1355, 1356 (11th Cir.
1989) (emphasis added). The judge did not err in
relying on this testimony, and Evans has offered
nothing, at the hearing or on appeal, to bring it
into question. We reject this sentencing challenge
as well.

*    *    *
Police had an objectively reasonable basis for

entering Willie Evans’s home without a warrant.
We therefore affirm his conviction. And because
the sentencing court did not err either in its inter-
pretation of the Sentencing Guidelines or in its
findings of fact, we also affirm his sentence.

AFFIRMED.
))))))))))))))))))

1“[C]ommentary in the Guidelines Manual that
interprets or explains a guideline is authoritative unless
it violates the Constitution or a federal statute, or is

inconsistent with, or a plainly erroneous reading of, that
guideline.” Stinson v. United States, 508 U.S. 36, 38
(1993).

2“Muzzelite” is not a brand of rifle. Rather, it ap-
pears to be a brand of aftermarket attachments made for
Ruger rifles. See Muzzelite Bullpup Stocks, http://
muzzelite.com [https://perma.cc/QJ5S-CTVK] (last
visited Apr. 28, 2020). At the sentencing hearing, the
prosecutor testified that the rifle’s “plastic casing is an
after-market piece that is placed on the firearm.” Like-
wise, Detective Cabrera testified that he disassembled
the rifle “because of the after-market part placed on it.”

3Evans concedes this point in a letter correcting his
initial brief.

*        *        *
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(Before ED CARNES, Chief Judge, LUCK and
MARCUS, Circuit Judges.)

(MARCUS, Circuit Judge.) Dr. Johnny Clyde
Benjamin, Jr. appeals his convictions for distrib-
uting furanyl fentanyl, a controlled substance
analogue, in counterfeit oxycodone pills that
caused the death of a 34-year-old woman. He
challenges his convictions because, he claims, the
government failed to prove that he produced and
distributed the drugs that caused the death of the
victim; the distribution of furanyl fentanyl was
not criminalized by Congress until after he distrib-
uted it; the trial court failed to properly instruct the
jury as to the requirement of scienter; it erred in
denying his motion to suppress evidence obtained
from a search of his bags at an airport; and the
district court abused its discretion in declining to
investigate juror misconduct. Finding no merit in
any of Benjamin’s claims, we affirm.

I.

A.
On March 6, 2018, a grand jury returned a

superseding indictment against Benjamin and two
co-conspirators, Zachary Stewart and Kevan
Slater. The superseding indictment charged the
three defendants with (1) one count of conspiring
to possess with intent to distribute furanyl
fentanyl, a controlled substance analogue, which
resulted in death, in violation of 21 U.S.C. §§
841(a)(1), (b)(1)(C), 846 (Count One); (2) one
count of distributing furanyl fentanyl, a controlled
substance analogue, which resulted in death, in
violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1), (b)(1)(C)
(Count Two); and (3) one count of conspiring to
possess with intent to distribute hydrocodone and
oxycodone, both controlled substances, in viola-
tion of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1), 846 (Count
Seven). The superseding indictment also charged
Benjamin alone with (1) one count of attempting
to possess with intent to distribute acetyl fentanyl,
a controlled substance, in violation of 21 U.S.C.
§§ 841(a)(1), 846 (Count Three); (2) two counts
of possessing firearms in furtherance of drug
trafficking crimes, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
924(c)(1)(A) (Counts Four and Six); and (3) one
count of possessing with intent to distribute
oxycodone, a controlled substance, in violation of
21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) (Count Five).

Stewart and Slater testified against Benjamin
at trial and each pled guilty to one count of con-
spiring to possess with intent to distribute furanyl
fentanyl, a controlled substance analogue, which
resulted in death, in violation of 21 U.S.C. §§
841(a)(1), (b)(1)(C), 846; and one count of con-
spiring to possess with intent to distribute
hydrocodone and oxycodone, both controlled
substances, in violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1),
846. On July 27, 2018, the district court sentenced
Stewart to 58 months in prison and Slater to 72
months in prison.

B.
These are the essential facts adduced at

Benjamin’s seven-day trial. On September 1,
2016, two Palm Beach County Sheriff’s Office
(“PBSO”) deputies responded to a 911 call at an
apartment complex in Wellington, Florida. The
deputies found an adult woman, later identified as

M.C., unconscious; they performed CPR until fire
rescue arrived. Tragically, those efforts were
unsuccessful and M.C. was pronounced dead.
M.C.’s husband told the responding officers that
his wife had overdosed on drugs. The officers
recovered prescription pill bottles from M.C.’s
bedroom. One of the bottles had what appeared to
be, at first blush, oxycodone—small blue pills
with the letter “M” printed on one side, and the
number “30” printed on the other. Laboratory
testing, though, later revealed that those pills
contained furanyl fentanyl.

A toxicology report confirmed that M.C.’s
blood contained caffeine, furanyl fentanyl, and a
compound called 4-ANPP.1 The report also found
that M.C. had a blood alcohol concentration of
.033—not much more than one drink’s worth of
alcohol. Dr. George Behonick, an expert toxicolo-
gist, testified for the government that there is no
known safe level of furanyl fentanyl in the blood,
nor has the drug been approved for any medical
use in the United States. Dr. Gertrude Juste, an
expert forensic pathologist and the medical exam-
iner who performed M.C.’s autopsy, opined that
the ingestion of furanyl fentanyl caused M.C.’s
death; that M.C.’s blood alcohol level was “insig-
nificant” and “could not explain her death”; and
that M.C. suffered from no other, underlying
medical condition that could have caused her
death.

M.C.’s husband told law enforcement officers
that Kevan Slater, a friend of M.C.’s, had given
her pills in the past. He also gave them M.C.’s cell
phone. The agents found text messages between
M.C. and Slater discussing the pills. The agents
were also able to place the phone at Slater’s
residence the night before M.C. died, and thus
identified Slater as having given her the fatal pills.
Slater admitted giving the counterfeit oxycodone
pills to M.C. and agreed to cooperate in the inves-
tigation. He told law enforcement that he had been
given the pills by Zachary Stewart, and that
Stewart told him that Dr. Johnny Benjamin was
the source of the pills. Stewart likewise cooper-
ated and confirmed that Benjamin, a spinal sur-
geon in Vero Beach, Florida, was the source of the
pills.

Stewart testified that Dr. Benjamin had
planned to manufacture counterfeit oxycodone
pills. Benjamin asked Stewart to help him pur-
chase a pill press and explained to Stewart that it
would be cheaper to import fentanyl from China
than it would be to purchase pharmaceutically
manufactured pills in the United States. In April
or May 2016, Benjamin gave Stewart an initial
batch of counterfeit oxycodone pills. Stewart was
supposed to find someone to test the pills because
Benjamin wanted to confirm their potency. But
Stewart was unable to do so. The pills in the first
batch were white, and they looked nothing like
real oxycodone pills, which are light blue. Within
a week, though, Benjamin gave Stewart a second
batch of twenty pills. Stewart gave these pills to
Slater for testing. Slater consumed all twenty
himself. Slater testified that the pills were “very
similar to a pain killer,” but their potency was
“slightly under what a typical [oxycodone] pill
would normally be.”

Then, in late August, Benjamin gave Stewart
a third batch. Stewart thought these pills looked
better than the first two batches—more like real
oxycodone—and Benjamin told him they were
more potent. Once more, Stewart gave the pills to
Slater. But this time, Slater didn’t keep the pills
for himself. Instead, he sold some to M.C. After
M.C. died, Slater flushed the remaining pills
down a garbage disposal. He then called Stewart
to tell him about M.C.’s death. Stewart testified
that the news “terrified” him and made him “feel
horrible.” He said he was fearful he “would be
going to jail” and that “other people may be
dying, getting hurt from these pills.” Stewart
immediately relayed the news of M.C.’s death to
Benjamin. Benjamin told him not to worry. M.C.,
Benjamin explained, “was just a piece of paper on
a large stack on the desk.”

After M.C.’s death, Stewart distanced himself
from Benjamin, but, thereafter, as part of his
cooperation with law enforcement, Stewart got
back in touch with Benjamin and began recording
their conversations. Eventually, Stewart—at the
DEA’s direction—told Benjamin he would be
traveling to Atlanta to speak with a drug supplier
and to pick up marijuana and prescription pills.
Benjamin replied that he was interested in distrib-
uting the drugs; he was, as Stewart testified,
“eager to find out if the numbers would make
sense.”

Once Stewart and Benjamin ironed out the
details of their arrangement, the DEA contacted
Mallinckrodt, a company that manufactures
oxycodone pills, and asked it to produce a batch
of placebo pills. The agents gave these pills to
Stewart to give to Benjamin, and he did so on
October 5, 2017. Stewart told Benjamin that the
pills contained acetyl fentanyl mixed with
mannitol and Benadryl, and that they were “the
closest thing to” heroin.

The next day, Benjamin traveled with the pills
to the Orlando Melbourne International Airport,
planning to bring them in his carry-on luggage to
Philadelphia. Before Benjamin arrived, DEA
officers reached out for the Melbourne Airport
Police Department (“MAPD”) to see if its officers
could get Benjamin to consent to a search of his
bags. As Benjamin went to pick up his bags from
a conveyor belt after passing through TSA screen-
ing, Sergeant Patrick Naughton asked Benjamin
whether those were his bags and if Naughton
could search them. Benjamin replied, “Yes, sir,
you may.” Sergeant Naughton brought
Benjamin’s bags to a table “ten to 15 feet over to
the side” from the security checkpoint. Naughton
told Benjamin that perhaps the TSA had found
“prohibited items in [his] bags, and it could be a
bullet or something.” Throughout the encounter,
Benjamin remained “calm” and “very coopera-
tive.” The DEA was onsite at the airport in case he
declined to consent to the search of his bags.

Sergeant Naughton and Officer Austin Moyer
searched Benjamin’s bags and found the DEA’s
counterfeit oxycodone pills. Benjamin claimed
some of the pills were his chemotherapy medica-
tion and some were anti-inflammatory medica-
tion. But because Benjamin didn’t have a pre-
scription for his “medicine,” and because of the
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vast number of pills—Naughton estimated there
were over 2,000 pills in Benjamin’s luggage—the
law enforcement officers confiscated the pills.

On October 12, 2017, Benjamin was arrested,
and the DEA executed search warrants on his
home, office, and storage unit. In his home, inves-
tigators found five pill bottles, none of which
indicated they had been prescribed to Benjamin;
a money counter; money bands in $2,000 and
$20,000 denominations; and a scale. Subsequent
DEA testing confirmed the presence of furanyl
fentanyl residue on the scale. At Benjamin’s
office, investigators discovered an extensive
search history related to fentanyl on his computer.
Benjamin’s Google searches included “How
much fentanyl in a fake oxy,” “fentanyl to
oxycodone,” and “fentanyl pill.” At Benjamin’s
storage unit, investigators found Ziploc bags,
plastic goggles, a dust mask, rubber gloves, and
various parts of a pill press. Several of those items
tested positive for furanyl fentanyl. Finally, the
DEA confirmed through Benjamin’s financial
records that he had purchased a pill press, pill
mold, and tablet binder.

The jury returned guilty verdicts as to the
drug-trafficking charges but acquitted Benjamin
of the gun charges. The district court then sen-
tenced Benjamin to a total term of life in prison.
This timely appeal followed.

II.

A.
For starters, we are satisfied that the govern-

ment introduced sufficient evidence to permit a
reasonable jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt
that the furanyl fentanyl Benjamin distributed
caused M.C.’s death.

We review de novo challenges to the suffi-
ciency of the evidence to support a conviction,
taking the evidence and drawing all reasonable
inferences in a light most favorable to the govern-
ment. United States v. Ochoa, 941 F.3d 1074,
1102 n.18 (11th Cir. 2019) [28 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C508a]. The Controlled Substances Act
(“CSA”) makes it illegal for any person to know-
ingly or intentionally “manufacture, distribute, or
dispense, or possess with intent to manufacture,
distribute, or dispense, a controlled substance.” 21
U.S.C. § 841(a)(1). Section 846 makes an attempt
or a conspiracy to commit those acts a federal
crime. Today, furanyl fentanyl is a controlled
substance, but at all times relevant to this case,
furanyl fentanyl was a controlled substance
analogue.2 Section 813(a) requires us to treat
controlled substance analogues, “to the extent
intended for human consumption,” like Schedule
I controlled substances “for the purposes of any
Federal law.”3 Section 841 includes this penalty
enhancement provision: if a person distributes a
Schedule I or II controlled substance, and “death
or serious bodily injury results from the use of
such substance,” then that person “shall be sen-
tenced to a term of imprisonment of not less than
twenty years or more than life.” Id. §
841(b)(1)(C).

The Supreme Court has interpreted the penalty
enhancement provision’s “results from” language
to require a showing of but-for causation. See
Burrage v. United States, 571 U.S. 204, 218-19

(2014) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S531a] (holding
that “a defendant cannot be liable under the pen-
alty enhancement provision of 21 U.S.C. §
841(b)(1)(C) unless such use is a but-for cause of
the death or injury”). But-for cause “requires
proof ‘that the harm would not have occurred in
the absence of—that is, but for—the defendant’s
conduct.’ ” Id. at 211 (quoting Univ. of Tex. Sw.
Med. Ctr. v. Nassar, 570 U.S. 338, 346-47 (2013)
[24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S366a]). We have ex-
plained that “but-for causality does not require
that a single factor alone produce the particular
result.” United States v. Feldman, 936 F.3d 1288,
1311 (11th Cir. 2019) [28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C80a]. Instead, a jury may find but-for causation
“if the predicate act combines with other factors to
produce the result, so long as the other factors
alone would not have done so—if, so to speak, it
was the straw that broke the camel’s back.” Id.
(emphasis omitted) (quoting Burrage, 571 U.S. at
211).

The government introduced more than enough
evidence to allow the jury to find, beyond a rea-
sonable doubt, that the furanyl fentanyl distrib-
uted by Benjamin was the but-for cause of M.C.’s
death. As we’ve already noted, the government’s
expert toxicologist, Dr. Behonick, testified at trial
that M.C.’s blood tested positive for furanyl
fentanyl, caffeine, and not much more than one
drink’s worth of alcohol following her death. Dr.
Behonick opined that there is no known safe
amount of furanyl fentanyl in the blood. Dr. Juste
confirmed that there is no known safe level of
furanyl fentanyl in the blood; indeed, she said,
furanyl fentanyl is so potent it can cause fatal
harm to people who so much as touch the drug
without wearing gloves. Dr. Juste unambiguously
testified that the ingestion of furanyl fentanyl
caused M.C.’s death; that M.C. had no underlying
medical conditions that could have caused her
death; and that M.C. would not have died had she
not consumed furanyl fentanyl.

The government also introduced sufficient
evidence at trial to link the furanyl fentanyl M.C.
consumed to Benjamin. Direct evi-
dence—including text messages on M.C.’s
phone, and the location of M.C.’s phone the
evening before her death—linked M.C.’s counter-
feit oxycodone pills to Slater. Slater, in turn,
explained that he sold those pills to M.C., that he
received them from Stewart, and that Benjamin
was the pills’ ultimate source. Stewart testified to
the same effect at trial. The government supported
this with compelling circumstantial evidence,
including the pill-manufacturing paraphernalia
with traces of furanyl fentanyl found in
Benjamin’s home and in his storage unit, and the
extensive fentany-lrelated search history discov-
ered on his office computer. Finally, Benjamin
testified on his own behalf and made a series of
denials that the jury was entitled to, and obviously
did, disbelieve. United States v. Bennett, 848 F.2d
1134, 1139 (11th Cir. 1988).

In short, the evidence was more than sufficient
to allow a reasonable jury to conclude that the
furanyl fentanyl Benjamin distributed caused
M.C.’s death.4

B.
Next, Benjamin argues that the district court

lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the first
two counts of the indictment because the govern-
ment failed to charge criminal offenses in those
counts. He says the DEA criminalized furanyl
fentanyl when it first issued a notice branding the
drug a Schedule I narcotic on November 29, 2016.
See Schedules of Controlled Substances: Tempo-
rary Placement of Furanyl Fentanyl Into Schedule
I, 81 Fed. Reg. 85873 (Nov. 29, 2016) (codified at
21 C.F.R. pt. 1308). Until that date, the argument
goes, the possession and distribution of furanyl
fentanyl were not subject to any criminal penal-
ties.

We review de novo the subject matter jurisdic-
tion of the district court. United States v. Moore,
443 F.3d 790, 793 (11th Cir. 2006) [19 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C381a]. Counts One and Two of the
superseding indictment charged Benjamin with
violating the Controlled Substance Analogue
Enforcement Act of 1986, 21 U.S.C. §§ 802 and
813 (the “Analogue Act”). While Benjamin now
claims that the district court lacked subject matter
jurisdiction because furanyl fentanyl was not
properly characterized as a controlled substance
analogue, Benjamin stipulated at trial to the
opposite: “that at all times material to this case,
furanyl fentanyl was a controlled substance ana-
logue.” Benjamin has dressed this claim on appeal
in the garb of subject matter jurisdiction, and if he
were right, we would be obliged to consider his
argument, notwithstanding any stipulation to the
contrary. See Belleri v. United States, 712 F.3d
543, 547 (11th Cir. 2013) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C123a]. But the problem for Benjamin is that his
claim is not a jurisdictional argument at all.
Rather, Benjamin’s argument is no more than the
claim that he was not guilty of the offenses
charged—that he did not violate the Analogue Act
because he did not distribute, nor did he conspire
to possess with intent to distribute, a controlled
substance analogue. This is “a non-jurisdictional
challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence as to”
the first two counts of the indictment that “has no
bearing on the district court’s power to adjudicate
[Benjamin’s] case or subject matter jurisdiction.”
United States v. Grimon, 923 F.3d 1302, 1307
(11th Cir. 2019) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1961a]. The district court had subject matter
jurisdiction over these drug charges.

C.
Next, Benjamin claims, for the first time on

appeal, that the district court erred by failing to
instruct the jury as to the requirement of scienter.
According to Benjamin, Counts One and Two of
the indictment required the government to prove
beyond a reasonable doubt that Benjamin knew
furanyl fentanyl was a controlled substance
analogue. And the district court’s failure to in-
struct the jury on this point was a non-harmless
error that compels reversal. Though we typically
review de novo the legal correctness of a jury
instruction, United States v. Isnadin, 742 F.3d
1278, 1296 (11th Cir. 2014) [24 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C1031a], Benjamin failed to object to the
instructions before the district court, and so our
review is only for plain error. “We may correct a
plain error only when (1) an error has occurred,
(2) the error was plain, and (3) the error affected
substantial rights.” United States v. DiFalco, 837
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F.3d 1207, 1220 (11th Cir. 2016) [26 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C791a]. “An error is plain where it is
‘clear’ or ‘obvious.’ ” Id. at 1221 (quoting United
States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 734 (1993)). “If all
three conditions are met, an appellate court may
then exercise its discretion to notice a forfeited
error, but only if (4) the error seriously affected
the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of
judicial proceedings.” Id. (alteration adopted)
(quoting United States v. Cotton, 535 U.S. 625,
631-32 (2002) [15 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S287a]).
“Under plain-error review, the silent defendant
has the burden to show the error plain, prejudicial,
and disreputable to the judicial system.” Id. (quot-
ing United States v. Monroe, 353 F.3d 1346,
1349-50 (11th Cir. 2003) [17 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C154a]).

Benjamin cannot meet this exacting standard.
The district court instructed the jury that Count
One charged Benjamin with “knowingly and
willfully” conspiring to possess with intent to
distribute furanyl fentanyl. The court told the jury
that § 841(a)(1) “makes it a crime for anyone to
knowingly possess furanyl fentanyl with intent to
distribute it.” Likewise, the court explained that
Count Two charged that Benjamin “knowingly
and intentionally” distributed furanyl fentanyl.
The court instructed the jury that, to convict
Benjamin on Count Two, it must find that he
“knowingly distributed a controlled substance.”
The court explained to the jury that the “word
‘knowingly’ means that an act was done volun-
tarily and intentionally and not because of a
mistake or by accident.” The court also instructed
the jury that to act “willfully” means to act “vol-
untarily and purposely, with the intent to do
something the law forbids; that is, with the bad
purpose to disobey or disregard the law.” The
district court made no error in these instructions.

Benjamin argues that the district court was
required to instruct the jury that, to convict
Benjamin, it must find that he knew furanyl
fentanyl was a controlled substance analogue. But
this argument rests on a misreading of McFadden
v. United States, 135 S. Ct. 2298 (2015) [25 Fla.
L. Weekly Fed. S352a], and of course, the district
court need not have accommodated an instruction
that would have been contrary to law. See United
States v. Vereen, 920 F.3d 1300, 1306 (11th Cir.
2019) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1831a] (explain-
ing that, “for the denial of a requested instruction
to constitute reversible error, a defendant must
establish,” inter alia, “that the request correctly
stated the law”). As McFadden makes clear, there
are two ways the government can prove scienter.
One is by showing the defendant knew he was
dealing with a controlled substance or controlled
substance analogue. McFadden, 135 S. Ct. at
2305. But the second way is “by showing that the
defendant knew the identity of the substance he
possessed.” Id. at 2304. This means the govern-
ment can prove scienter with “evidence that the
defendant knew the specific [controlled sub-
stance] analogue he was dealing with, even if he
did not know its legal status as an analogue.” Id. at
2305. Benjamin points us to no error at all, much
less a plain one.

D.
Next, Benjamin claims the district court erred

in denying his motion to suppress evidence ob-
tained from the search of his bags at the Orlando
Melbourne International Airport. Benjamin
disputes the voluntariness of his consent—he says
that, because the search took place at an airport
security checkpoint, immediately after the TSA
had completed its screening, he did not feel free to
refuse the search. He also complains that the
MAPD officers used a ruse—Sergeant Naughton
mentioned to him that perhaps the TSA had found
ammunition in his luggage—and that the officers
didn’t tell Benjamin he could refuse their search.

We use a mixed standard when evaluating a
district court’s denial of a motion to suppress,
reviewing the court’s factual findings for clear
error and its application of the law to those facts
de novo. United States v. Plasencia, 886 F.3d
1336, 1342 (11th Cir. 2018) [27 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C795a] (per curiam). As we have explained,
a warrantless search “does not violate the Fourth
Amendment where there is voluntary consent
given by a person with authority.” Bates v.
Harvey, 518 F.3d 1233, 1243 (11th Cir. 2008) [21
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C444a]. Consent is voluntary
“if it is the product of an ‘essentially free and
unconstrained choice.’ ” United States v. Purcell,
236 F.3d 1274, 1281 (11th Cir. 2001) (quoting
Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 225
(1973)). Where consent was the basis for a search,
the government bears the burden of proving
consent was freely given. See Florida v. Royer,
460 U.S. 491, 497 (1983). Because voluntariness
is “factual and depends on the totality of the
circumstances,” a district court’s assessment that
consent was voluntary “will not be disturbed on
appeal absent clear error.” Purcell, 236 F.3d at
1281. When reviewing the totality of the circum-
stances, we consider “the presence of coercive
police procedures, the extent of the defendant’s
cooperation with the officer, the defendant’s
awareness of his right to refuse consent, the defen-
dant’s education and intelligence, and the defen-
dant’s belief that no incriminating evidence will
be found.” Id.

These factors all point in the same direc-
tion—that Benjamin voluntarily consented to the
search. The MAPD officers did not coerce
Benjamin into providing his consent. The officers
did no more than ask Benjamin whether they
could search his bags, and Benjamin cooperated
with the MAPD throughout the search. He was
neither in custody nor restrained. Moreover, the
government introduced testimony at a suppres-
sion hearing that Benjamin had refused a consent
search in the past and was, therefore, familiar with
his right to refuse. And last, the evidence showed
that Benjamin believed no incriminating evidence
would be found. Benjamin wore his medical
scrubs to the airport, and what could be more
innocuous than a doctor traveling with medicine?
Though Benjamin must have known the MAPD
would find his pills, he had an excuse at the
ready—the pills were his cancer medication. See
United States v. Spivey, 861 F.3d 1207, 1216
(11th Cir. 2017) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1652b]
(“And ‘significantly,’ [the defendant] believed
that no incriminating evidence would be
found—or at least, nothing she . . . had not pre-
pared to explain away.” (quoting United States v.

Chemaly, 741 F.2d 1346, 1352 (11th Cir. 1984))).
That the MAPD made limited use of a ruse

does nothing to change our conclusion. “Deceit,”
it is true, can “be relevant to voluntariness.” Id. at
1213. “Because we require ‘that the consent was
not a function of acquiescence to a claim of lawful
authority,’ deception invalidates consent when
police claim authority they lack.” Id. (quoting
United States v. Blake, 888 F.2d 795, 798 (11th
Cir. 1989)). “The Fourth Amendment,” though,
“allows some police deception so long [as] the
suspect’s ‘will was not overborne.’ ” Id. at 1214
(alteration adopted) (quoting Schneckloth, 412
U.S. at 226). Here, Sergeant Naughton told
Benjamin that perhaps the TSA had found ammu-
nition in his luggage. This ruse “was a relatively
minor deception that created little, if any, coer-
cion.” Id. at 1215.

Indeed, Naughton made this comment only
after Benjamin had already consented to the
search of his bags.

The district court found that Benjamin volun-
tarily consented to the search of his bags at the
airport. There is no clear error in that finding. Nor
did the district court err in denying the motion to
suppress.

E.
Next, Benjamin claims that the district court

abused its discretion by declining to investigate
juror misconduct. The jury returned its verdict on
April 27, 2018. Later that day, the deputy clerk
discovered a list of “30 Do’s and Don’ts of Jury
Deliberations” while cleaning the deliberation
room. The district court notified both parties of
the list; Benjamin then moved the court to voir
dire the jury. Although Benjamin conceded the
list was not “inherently prejudicial,” he said that
its “mere presence in the jury room” showed “at
least one juror ignored the Court’s instructions
and conducted at least some outside research
regarding a juror’s duties.” The district court
denied the motion. Here are the list’s command-
ments, in their entirety:

1. Do encourage everyone to share their
thoughts.

2. Don’t be afraid of silences.
3. Do remind people that all opinions are

valid.
4. Don’t let people talk over each other.
5. Do consult the exhibits in evaluation of

the state’s case.
6. Don’t damage the exhibits.
7. Do re-read the instructions periodically

throughout deliberations.
8. Don’t ignore the law.
9. Do consult your notes.
10. Don’t let another juror be your mem-

ory.
11. Do ask questions of the judge.
12. Don’t try to fill in the blanks with

conjecture.
13. Do judge whether the state proved their

case.
14. Don’t judge innocence.
15. Do take into account how you feel

about the testimony the witnesses gave.
16. Don’t let your personal opinions about

the judge or the lawyers in the case influence
your judgment.
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17. Do remember that a defendant is inno-
cent until proven guilty by the state.

18. Don’t let the way a defendant looks or
how they are dressed affect your verdict.

19. Do fault a states attorney for not putt-
ing up a strong case.

20. Don’t fault a defendant for not putting
up a defense.

21. Do change your vote if you change
your mind.

22. Don’t change your vote just to be done
with deliberations.

23. Do convict someone if the state pro-
vided credible evidence proving they did it.

24. Don’t convict someone because you
think they probably did it.

25. Do remember that reasonable doubt is
based on your sense of reason and not some-
one else’s.

26. Don’t choose a verdict that you do not
feel confident about.

27. Do focus completely on your present
case.

28. Don’t try to right past wrongs.
29. Do give justice.
30. Don’t give up.

The district court did not abuse its consider-

able discretion by declining to investigate further.
“Any challenge to the district court’s investiga-
tion of juror misconduct must be viewed in the
context of the broad discretion afforded a trial
judge confronted with such an allega-
tion”—discretion that “extends even to the initial
decision of whether to interrogate the jurors.”
United States v. Augustin, 661 F.3d 1105, 1129
(11th Cir. 2011) [23 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1562a]
(per curiam) (alteration adopted) (quoting United
States v. Yonn, 702 F.2d 1341, 1344-45 (11th Cir.
1983)). “[W]here a party alleges that the jury was
subject to extrinsic influence, we have held that a
district court has a duty to investigate ‘only when
the party alleging misconduct makes an adequate
showing of extrinsic influence to overcome the
presumption of jury impartiality.’ ” United States
v. Brown, 934 F.3d 1278, 1303 (11th Cir. 2019)
[28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C98a] (quoting United
States v. Cuthel, 903 F.2d 1381, 1383 (11th Cir.
1990)). We require that the defendant “do more
than speculate; he must show ‘clear, strong,
substantial and incontrovertible evidence . . . that
a specific, nonspeculative impropriety has oc-
curred.’ ” Cuthel, 903 F.2d at 1383 (quoting
United States v. Ianniello, 866 F.2d 540, 543 (2d 

Cir. 1989)); see also United States v. Venske, 296
F.3d 1284, 1290 (11th Cir. 2002) [15 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C765a] (explaining that a district
court does not err in declining to investigate juror
misconduct when the defendant cannot show that
the jurors were influenced by external sources).

Benjamin has not made the requisite showing.
Benjamin only speculates that the jury improperly
viewed prejudicial information. But the list is not,
as Benjamin conceded to the district court, “in-
herently prejudicial.” The list makes no mention
of any of the particulars of Benjamin’s case or the
evidence presented at trial. Nor is there any indi-
cation that a jury reading this list of do’s and
don’ts would be more likely to vote to convict.
Because Benjamin cannot point to “clear, strong,
substantial and incontrovertible evidence,”
Cuthel, 903 F.2d at 1383 (quoting Ianniello, 866
F.2d at 543), that the jury considered extraneous,
prejudicial information, “the district court did not
abuse its discretion in failing to investigate it
further.” Brown, 934 F.3d at 1304.

F.
Finally, Benjamin argues cumulative error.

“The cumulative error doctrine provides that an
aggregation of non-reversible errors (i.e., plain
errors failing to necessitate reversal and harmless
error) can yield a denial of the constitutional right
to a fair trial, which calls for reversal.” United
States v. Margarita Garcia, 906 F.3d 1255, 1280
(11th Cir. 2018) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1439a]
(quoting United States v. Baker, 432 F.3d 1189,
1223 (11th Cir. 2005) [19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C86a], abrogated in part on other grounds by
Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 821 (2006)
[19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S299a]). “We address
claims of cumulative error by first considering the
validity of each claim individually, and then
examining any errors that we find in the aggregate
and in light of the trial as a whole to determine
whether the appellant was afforded a fundamen-
tally fair trial.” Id. (quoting Morris v. Sec’y, Dep’t
of Corr., 677 F.3d 1117, 1132 (11th Cir. 2012)
[23 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C943a]).

Because Benjamin has not pointed us to any
error in his trial, his argument that all of his
claimed errors, when taken together, compel
reversal necessarily fails. See Morris, 677 F.3d at
1132 (“[W]here there is no error in any of the trial
court’s rulings, the argument that cumulative trial
error requires that this Court reverse the defen-
dant’s convictions is without merit.” (alterations
adopted and quotation omitted)).

AFFIRMED.
))))))))))))))))))

1As described at trial, 4-ANPP “is a compound
which is thought to be a precursor or intermediate in the
clandestine or illicit manufacture of fentanyl and several
other fentanyl analogues,” including furanyl fentanyl.

Mass spectrometry testing of M.C.’s blood also
indicated the presence of tramadol, but more specific
quantitative analysis found no tramadol at a reporting
limit of 0.044 milligrams per liter. The report also
indicated there was benzodiazepine in her urine, which
suggested M.C. may have taken Xanax at some point
before her death.

2The Controlled Substance Analogue Enforcement
Act of 1986 defines a “controlled substance analogue”
to mean a substance

(i) the chemical structure of which is substan-
tially similar to the chemical structure of a con-
trolled substance in schedule I or II;

(ii) which has a stimulant, depressant, or halluci-
nogenic effect on the central nervous system that is
substantially similar to or greater than the stimulant,
depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central
nervous system of a controlled substance in sched-
ule I or II; or

(iii) with respect to a particular person, which
such person represents or intends to have a stimu-
lant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the
central nervous system that is substantially similar
to or greater than the stimulant, depressant, or
hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system
of a controlled substance in schedule I or II.

21 U.S.C. § 802(32)(A).
3At trial, Benjamin stipulated that furanyl fentanyl

was, “at all times material to this case,” a controlled
substance analogue intended for human consumption.

4Benjamin also briefly claims (for the first time on
appeal) that the district court failed to properly instruct
the jury that, to convict him, it must find he distributed
a controlled substance that was a but-for cause of M.C.’s
death. We review this claim only for plain error and find
it too to be without merit. The district court correctly
told the jury that, to convict Benjamin on Count One, it
“must find that the controlled substance distributed by
the defendant was a but-for cause of M.C.’s death.” And
again, as to Count Two, the district court charged the
jury that to find Benjamin guilty, it must find “that the
controlled substance distributed by the defendant was a
but-for cause of M.C.’s death.”

*        *        *
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